Funds in Court in England and Wales Account 2021-22

Funds in Court in England and Wales Account 2021-22

Presented to Parliament pursuant to Section 45(3)(1) of the Administration of Justice Act 1982

Ordered by the House of Commons to be printed on 21 July 2022



© Crown copyright 2022

This publication is licensed under the terms of the Open Government Licence v3.0 except

where otherwise stated. To view this licence, visit nationalarchives.gov.uk/doc/open-government-licence/version/3

Where we have identified any third party copyright information you will need to obtain permission from the copyright holders concerned.

This publication is available at: www.gov.uk//government/publications/funds -in-court-in england-wales-account

Any enquiries regarding this publication should be sent to us at www.gov.uk/government/organisations/Ministry-of-Justice

ISBN: 978-1-915287-05-2

Printed on paper containing 75% recycled fibre content minimum

Contents

	Page
Accountant General's Accounts	
Annual Report for the Accountant General's Accounts (Part A) of the transactions under Section 38 of the Administration of Justice Act 1982 and presented under Section 45 of the same Act	2
The Certificate and Report of the Comptroller and Auditor General to the Houses of Parliament	17
Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure for the year ended 28 February 2022	22
Statement of Financial Position as at 28 February 2022	23
Statement of Cash Flows for the year ended 28 February 2022	24
Notes to the Financial Statements	25
Accounts Direction given by HM Treasury	36
Commissioners for the Reduction of the National Debt Court Funds Investment Account	
Performance Report	37
Accountability Report	39
Statement of Secretary and Comptroller General's responsibilities	40
Governance statement	41
Parliamentary accountability and audit report	52
The Certificate and Report of the Comptroller and Auditor General to the Houses of Parliament	53
Court Funds Investment Account Statement of comprehensive income	58
Court Funds Investment Account Statement of financial position	59
Court Funds Investment Account Statement of cash flows	60
Court Funds Investment Account Statement of changes in client funds	61
Notes to the accounts for the year ended 28 February 2022	62
Accounts Direction given by HM Treasury	65
Ministry of Justice Equity Index Tracker Fund	
Foreword	66
Investment Manager's Report	69
Governance Statement	73
Respective Responsibilities of the Lord Chancellor, Accountant General and Investment Manager	74
Certificate and Report of the Comptroller and Auditor General to the Houses of Parliament	76
Portfolio Statement (unaudited)	81
Statement of Total Return for the year ended 28 February 2022	82
Statement of Change in Net Assets attributable to Unitholders for the year ended 28 February 2022	83
Balance Sheet as at 28 February 2022	84
Notes to the Financial Statements	85
Distribution Tables (unaudited)	93
Fund Information (unaudited)	94
Accounts Direction given by HM Treasury	96

1

Accountant General's Accounts

Annual Report for the Accountant General's Accounts (Part A) of the transactions under Section 38 of the Administration of Justice Act 1982 and presented under Section 45 of the same Act

Accountant General's Accounts in Respect of Funds in Court

The Accountant General's Accounts cover the year ended 28 February 2022. They have been prepared in accordance with the direction given by HM Treasury in pursuance of Section 45(2) of the Administration of Justice Act 1982 (the Act). The Accounts record dealings in cash, securities and physical effects held in the civil courts of England and Wales. Deposits under the various enactments referred to in Section 40 of the Act are not segregated in the Accounts. The Accounts Direction can be found on page 34.

Money and securities are paid into court under the provisions of a wide variety of legislation and circumstances. Such funds fall into three main categories:

- Damages awarded to children as a result of civil legal action in a county court in England or Wales or the High Court of Justice. These assets are held on their behalf until the child reaches majority (18 years of age)
- Assets belonging to people who lack the capacity to manage their own financial affairs where the Court of Protection (CoP) has appointed someone else to manage their affairs
- Cases where money is held in court pending settlement of civil court action, or on behalf of dissenting shareholders, widows and other clients whose funds are held under a variety of different statutes.

There are three parts to the accounts:

- Part A covers cash and securities paid in court
- Part B covers the activity of the Commissioners for the Reduction of the National Debt (CRND) to invest those funds and is prepared by the UK Debt Management Office
- Part C presents the full accounts of all monies invested in the Lord Chancellor's Common Investment Fund (CIF) which is managed by Legal & General (L&G) on behalf of the Lord Chancellor. The CIF is an Equity Index Tracker Fund (EITF) and holds funds for the Accountant General as well as other parties. Part C is prepared by L&G.

The Part A accounts incorporate the relevant elements of Part B and Part C to provide a full understanding of the relationship between them.

The Accountant General

As the Accountant General I am the designated Accounting Officer for 'Funds in Court'. This means I am responsible for the safeguarding and investment of client funds paid into court. This includes, but is not limited to, ensuring:

- Funds ordered into court are correctly accounted for and protected once received
- Funds receive the correct amount of interest or any equivalent earnings from dividends
- Funds are paid out of court to the client at the correct time and they receive the correct amount due.

Inherent in this responsibility is the requirement to ensure there is a robust governance and control framework in place so that the above requirements are met; that the fund balances and control framework are audited externally each year by the Comptroller and Auditor General; and I implement promptly any recommendations that arise from such audit.

As the Accounting Officer for Funds in Court, I delegate the day to day discharge of my responsibilities to the Deputy Accountant General. At the date of signing the Deputy Accountant General is Vignesvaran Mahalingam who has been in this role since September 2020. He in turn is supported by the Office of the Accountant General (OAG).

I am also Chief Operating Officer for the Ministry of Justice (MoJ) and OAG sits within my business group. Should a conflict of interest between these two roles arise this would be discussed with the MOJ Accounting Officer and appropriate mitigations put in place.

Performance Report

My primary objective is to ensure client funds are safeguarded, administered correctly and protected from fraud or loss.

Whilst I am satisfied the current business model is meeting this objective, I am keen to improve the service provided to clients and to ensure it remains fit for purpose in the dynamic environment of financial services. I asked the Deputy Accountant General to carry out a strategic review of the Court Funds Office (CFO). The purpose of the review is to present options to achieve the following objectives:

- Modernise the CFO to improve the client service
- To reduce the costs of the CFO
- Improve the rate of return for clients particularly those covered in the Special Accounts, these being children and Court of Protection clients who do not have legal capacity to make their own financial decisions.

During the reporting year the Deputy Accountant General and I have been in discussion with National Savings & Investments as the outsourced provider of the CFO Client Service to set the future strategic direction of the CFO. In terms of timescale this is aligned with the renegotiation of the Memorandum of Understanding which is due to be reviewed by 31 March 2024. Although this is two years away this is a complex business model and forms part of National Savings & Investments' own strategic review of how it provides client services.

Performance Overview

Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure (SOCNE)

The SOCNE shows Net Interest Income of £2.184m (£0.190m in 20-21) which represents the surplus of interest earned on client funds over the interest due to clients, an increase of £1.994m over the previous year due to a combination of an increase in fund levels, movements in the Bank of England Base Rate which dictates the interest earned on clients' cash investments and interest rates paid to clients on their funds.

Dividend Income, Gains arising from Securities and Gains on Foreign Exchange showed varying degrees of movement over the year, but the financial impact of such movements is borne by the clients and so have a nil net effect of the SOCNE.

Expenses cover the costs of delivering the CFO client service and the Office of the Accountant General (OAG) who carry out such functions as commercial and contract management of outsourced suppliers, fund management, legal and policy. Gross costs in 2021-22 were lower than 2020-21, reducing from £5.230m to £5.027m, a reduction of £0.203m (4%). This reduction was through efficiencies on running costs which allowed to find overall savings against inflationary pressures from staff and contractual costs.

In broad terms around 90% of Expenses cover the costs of the CFO client operational service outsourced to National Savings & Investments (NS&I). There are further direct operational running costs managed by OAG which support delivery of the client service.

The Total Comprehensive Net Expenditure Transferred to Reserves was a deficit of £2.937m compared to a deficit of £5.134m in 2020-21. This reduction in deficit reflects in changes in the Bank of England Base rate and interest rate policy on client accounts. This deficit had to be funded by the Ministry of Justice as the parent Department and discussions on the financial model continue with the Accountant General on long term alternative options to the current financial model.

Statement of Financial Position

Client funds are classified as Cash or Securities. Cash funds are those invested through the UK Debt Management Office or the NatWest Group. In 2021-22 total cash funds were £2.591m and in 2020-21 £2.439m, an overall increase of £152m, the majority of which related to a single high value case which was paid into court during the year. Otherwise Cash and Securities were level year on year and within lines of expected trends.

Most securities funds are invested in the Lord Chancellor's Common Investment Fund which is the Equity Index Tracker Fund managed by Legal & General. The Equity Index Tracker Fund is invested in three different sectors and the performance benchmark was a composite of the following:

- Solactive L&G ESG UK Index 55%
- Solactive L&G Enhanced ESG Developed Index 35%
- FTSE All-World Emerging Markets Index 10%

The fund performed satisfactorily given the economic conditions and compared to similar investment products available across the market. The Net Asset Value (NAV) per unit increased from a year opening position of 1,777.97p to a year closing value of 1,902.60p, an increase of 124.63p (7%). The volume of units held decreased from the opening position of 4,304,566 to a closing position of 3,984,540, a decrease of 320,026 (7.43%). Taking into account both factors (NAV and volume of units) the total NAV of the fund decreased by £0.724m (1%).

Legal & General produce annual accounts for the Lord Chancellor providing detailed information on the Equity Index Tracker Fund - Funds in Court: Part C. The Part C accounts can be referred to for further analysis and explanation of the fund and its performance over the reporting year. These accounts are laid separately in the Houses of Parliament and are available on the www.gov.uk website.

Other securities including debt securities relate to legacy portfolios for which the Accountant General acts as custodian. Over the year holdings have reduced from £0.259m to £0.152m which is in line with expected trends as these relate to pre 2011 clients, after which portfolios were no longer accepted into court.

Performance Analysis

The CFO Service is managed by OAG through a Memorandum of Understanding (MoU) with NS&I. The MoU defines the terms of how the service is delivered and is measured by Performance Indicators (PIs). If a PI is breached, there is a defined penalty mechanism which is deducted from the following month's charge. The table of PI results for 2021-22 is shown below and is the average annual performance achieved for each indicator over the accounting year.

Overall, the accumulated annual average performance was 94.49% compared to 95.61% in 2020-21. Of the fifteen Performance Indicators, against the agreed targets, three were exceeded, four were met and eight were not met. Where applicable performance penalties were applied in accordance with the terms and conditions of the MoU. There were two main factors impacting on performance, technical systems and resourcing issues which continue to be monitored closely.

PI	Process	Average Annual Performance – %	Target – %	Met/NotMet/ Exceeded
1	Cheque Deposits	100.00	97	Exceeded
2	Transferred Funds	99.54	100	Not Met
3	Deposits	97.07	97	Exceeded
4	Form 212 Investment Decision	100.00	100	Met
5	Equity Index Tracker Fund (EITF) Investment	99.60	100	Not Met
6	Form 212 Non-Securities Decision	74.93	97	Not Met
7	Dividends	99.35	100	Not Met
8	Transfers	97.92	100	Not Met
9	Non EITF Sale & Purchase	100.00	100	Met
10	EITF Sale	99.57	100	Not Met
11	Payments	75.28	97	Not Met
12	General Correspondence	74.08	97	Not Met
13	Majority Statements	100.00	100	Met
14	Review of Child Accounts	100.00	100	Met
15	Telephone Helpline	99.94	90	Exceeded

Investment Policy

Liquidity

Under the provisions of the Administration of Justice Act 1982, liquid funds paid into court are transferred to the Commissioners for the Reduction of the National Debt (CRND). The funds and associated liquidity risk are managed by the UK Debt Management Office (DMO) on behalf of CRND.

Liquid funds transferred to the CRND are placed in the Court Funds Investment Account (CFIA) and invested by the DMO in short term deposits. Such deposits are generally of fixed term and short duration, typically up to seven days. The DMO pays interest on funds in the CFIA at a rate equivalent to the Bank of England base rate.

The objectives of this strategy are:

- Clients are protected against capital loss and will receive their capital amount as a minimum repayment
- Maximum liquidity is maintained, and clients can be paid on demand or when due under the terms of the court order
- The client receives a return on the funds held in court which reflects the above two conditions.

Funds are transferred to and from the CRND daily as required to meet cashflow requirements.

Under the provisions of the Administration of Justice Act 1982, in any year if the interest and dividends earned on the funds held in the CFIA exceed the sum payable to clients, then the surplus interest is used to meet the operational costs of the service; the Commissioners' costs in respect of the CFIA and any depreciation. Any further surplus interest must be surrendered to the Consolidated Fund. The Act also provides where there is a shortfall in interest and dividends, the deficit will be met from the Consolidated Fund.

Interest Rates

The interest rate earned on client funds invested in the CFIA is set at the Bank of England Base Rates. The rate applicable during the year were:

■ 1 March 2021 to 15 December 2021 0.10%

■ 16 December 2021 to 2 February 2022 0.25%

3 February 2022 to 28 February 2022 0.50%

The interest rate payable on client funds is set by the Lord Chancellor with the concurrence of HM Treasury. The specific interest rate paid to clients depends on how they are categorised.

Special Accounts - 0.1% interest was paid on:

- Damages awarded to children as a result of civil legal action in a county court in England or Wales or the High Court of Justice
- Assets belonging to people who lack the capacity to manage their own financial affairs, mainly where the Court
 of Protection (CoP) has appointed someone else to manage their affairs
- Widows and other beneficiaries where sums were invested prior to March 1983.

Basic Accounts - 0.05% interest was paid on:

Cases where money is held in court pending settlement of civil court action, or on behalf of other clients whose funds are held under a variety of different statutes.

Other Suitors Deposited in the Senior Courts - 0.0%

Monies paid into court on behalf of dissenting shareholders and monies received from county courts as unclaimed are held as cash, as are some child funds where religious observance does not allow for the accrual of interest.

Unclaimed Balances - 0.0%

The Court Funds Rules 2011 set out the criteria for identifying funds deemed to be unclaimed. The Rules provide that such funds may be transferred to the Unclaimed Balances Account. This includes funds paid into court under certain statutes where the funds are unclaimed at the point of receipt. Funds within the account do not accrue interest but it is credited if an authority to release the funds is received, at which point simple interest at the current basic rate for the period the fund has been unclaimed will be applied.

Growth

Clients may be eligible for their funds to be invested in the Lord Chancellor's Common Investment Fund (CIF), which is in the form of an Equity Index Tracker Fund (EITF) managed by Legal & General on behalf of the Lord Chancellor (Part C to the Accounts). Access to the EITF is governed by the Court Funds Rules 2011 and is only available to Special Account holders with cash of £10,000 or more in court and where the funds are expected to be held in court for five years or more. It is important to note, as with any investment in securities, investment in the CIF carries with it the risk of capital loss dependent on market movement. This risk is borne by the clients and not by the Accountant General or the Consolidated Fund.

The EITF provides clients with long term growth and income through dividends in a low risk investment environment.

Securities

Certain clients may hold in court portfolios of securities e.g. stocks, shares and unit trusts. These are Court of Protection clients where the securities were paid into court prior to changes in the Court Funds Rules 2011. OAG acts solely as a custodian for these securities including the administrative functions of carrying out any instructions to buy, sell or transfer such securities or to deposit dividends received. OAG does not provide any investment advice to clients. Clients may have their own private brokers to provide investment advice but OAG has no relationship with such brokers other than in its custodianship role.

Foreign Currency

Foreign currency deposits are held at the request of the client and at the discretion of the court. These deposits are invested in short term accounts with the NatWest Group and the client earns the full interest paid on the funds and bears the risk associated with exchange rate movement. The client is also responsible for any fees and charges for foreign currency accounts. OAG acts solely as custodian for these accounts and carries out any administrative functions whilst the funds are held in court.

Other Key Events

There are no other key events to report.

Accountability Report

Director's Report

The Office of the Accountant General (OAG) is a business unit of the MoJ and sits within the Chief Financial Officer's Group (CFOG). OAG is not an Arm's Length Body so does not have a board of directors or its own corporate functions, audit committee or remuneration committee; these services are delivered by the MoJ. All OAG staff are permanent employees of the MoJ and are employed on standard Civil Service terms and conditions including pension arrangements.

OAG does not have any Non-Executive Directors (NEDs) but as Accountant General I am a member of the Lord Chancellor's Strategic Investment Board (SIB) which has two non- executive advisors to provide independent advice and technical expertise on investment matters.

As OAG is part of the core MoJ department, all disclosures on related parties are set out in the Departmental Annual Report and Accounts – see this report for further details.

OAG's responsibilities and duties cover all aspects of my obligations under the Administration of Justice Act 1982 and other related legislation. OAG's objectives are defined in my Delivery Plan and covers:

- Financial control and management of funds, including responsibility for overseeing the movement of funds to and from the Commissioners for the Reduction of the National Debt (CRND)
- Policy and related legislative matters, including investment policy
- Service delivery and contract management, including responsibility for ensuring the correct administration of client accounts by the outsourced provider, along with service and contract management of their performance
- Corporate governance and risk
- Communications with internal and external stakeholders.

Appointment to the OAG is through MoJ policies and procedures for recruitment.

For clarity, the following definitions apply in this statement:

- The CFO: The client facing service for those with funds in court; and
- The CFO Service: Those elements of the overall client facing service (back office operations and help desk).

The CFO Service to clients is outsourced to National Savings & Investments (NS&I) who carry out all the administrative and help desk functions relating to clients. The definition of the service requirements for clients, including Performance Indicators (PIs) and the underlying control framework are defined in the Memorandum of Understanding (MoU) and supporting schedules.

The governance framework of OAG is described in the governance statement.

Parliamentary Accountability and Audit Report

Regularity of expenditure

All investments, income and expenditure relating to Funds in Court were applied to the purposes intended by Parliament.

The above statement has been audited.

Fees and charges

There were no fees or charges relating to Funds in Court.

The above statement has been audited.

The notional audit fee for the Funds in Court Part A financial statements for the year ended 28 February 2022 was £65,100. (2020-21 fee was £62,000). The audit fees are accounted for in the MoJ accounts. There have been no fees paid to the auditors in respect of non-audit work.

Statement of the Accountant General's Responsibilities

Management and Investment of Funds in Court

As set out in Section 38 of the Administration of Justice Act 1982 (the Act), the Accountant General of the Senior Courts is responsible for the management and investment of Funds in Court.

Statement of Accounts

Under Section 45 (1) of the Act, the Accountant General is required to prepare a statement of Accounts for each financial year in the form and on the basis as directed by HM Treasury. These Accounts are prepared to give a true and fair view of the state of affairs as at 28 February 2022, of the income and expenditure and cash flows for the year.

Appointment and Responsibilities of the Accountant General

The Secretary of State and Lord Chancellor has, under Section 97(2) of the Senior Courts Act 1981, as amended by the Public Trustee and Administration of Funds Act 1986, appointed me, James McEwen, as Accountant General of the Senior Courts on 29 August 2020. The Permanent Secretary of the Ministry of Justice has also appointed me as the Accounting Officer for Funds in Court. The latter's relevant responsibilities as Accounting Officer, including responsibilities for the propriety and regularity of the funds for which he is answerable and for the keeping of proper records, are set out in the Accounting Officer's Memorandum issued by the Treasury and published in "Managing Public Money".

As Accounting Officer, I am required to confirm that the Annual Report and Accounts as a whole is fair, balanced and understandable and take personal responsibility for the Annual Report and Accounts and the judgements required for determining that it is fair, balanced and understandable.

In preparing the accounts, I am required to observe the applicable accounting standards and be consistent with the relevant requirements of the Government Financial Reporting Manual (FReM), and in particular to:

- observe the accounts direction issued by HM Treasury, including the relevant accounting and disclosure requirements, and apply suitable accounting policies on a consistent basis;
- make judgements and estimates on a reasonable basis;

- state whether applicable accounting standards have been followed, and disclose and explain any material departures in the accounts;
- prepare the accounts on a going-concern basis; and
- confirm that the annual report and accounts as a whole are fair, balanced and understandable, and take personal responsibility for the annual report and accounts and the judgements required for determining they are fair, balanced and understandable.

As Accounting Officer, I have taken all the steps that I ought to have taken to make myself aware of any relevant audit information and to establish that the auditors are aware of that information. So far as I am aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the auditors are unaware.

Governance Statement

Introduction

I am the Accountant General of the Senior Courts and the Accounting Officer for the Funds in Court. I was appointed to both posts on 29 August 2020. As Accountant General, I am responsible for monies, securities and other assets held under the control of the civil courts of England and Wales, including the Court of Protection (CoP), and for the discharge of the statutory responsibilities of the Accountant General of the Senior Courts as set out in the Administration of Justice Act 1982.

For clarity, the following definitions apply in this statement:

- The Office of Accountant General (OAG): The OAG is the body responsible for supporting me as Accountant General in discharging my statutory duties. It ensures the overall client facing function operates correctly and manages delivery of those elements provided by National Savings & Investments (NS&I). It also has responsibility for strategic, financial, legal, policy and communications matters relating to the CFO
- The CFO: The client facing service (back office operations and help desk) provided to those with funds in court.

I understand my responsibilities as Accounting Officer as set out in "Managing Public Money", including the need to ensure that:

- Operational internal controls are effective
- Financial systems and procedures promote the efficient and economic conduct of business and safeguard financial propriety and regularity
- Financial considerations are fully accounted for in policy decisions
- Risk is considered in relation to assessing value for money.

I understand and comply with the requirements of "Corporate Governance in Central Government Departments: Code of Good Practice 2011" to the extent they apply to these accounts. This Governance Statement explains how, as Accountant General, I meet those requirements.

There were no Ministerial directions given to me as the Accountant General in the year ending 28 February 2022.

Governance Framework

Office of the Accountant General

I delegate responsibility for the day-to-day discharge of my responsibilities to the Deputy Accountant General. He is supported in this role by the Office of the Accountant General (OAG).

OAG operates within the core boundary of the MoJ as part of the Chief Financial Officer's Group (CFOG). OAG is subject to all MoJ policies, procedures and governance framework. In formal governance terms this means OAG reports to and is reviewed by MoJ corporate functions. OAG does not have its own independent audit and risk committee but is subject to review by the MoJ Audit and Risk Committee.

OAG has a complement of ten staff. All OAG employees, including the Deputy Accountant General, are permanent civil servants on standard MoJ terms and conditions including salary and pension arrangements. For this reason, OAG does not have a remuneration committee. All OAG employees are always bound by the Civil Service Code to act with honesty and integrity. There have been no departures from the code.

OAG's responsibilities and duties are wide ranging and cover all aspects of my obligations under the Administration of Justice Act 1982 and other related secondary legislation. Its objectives are defined in its annual Business Plan which I approve. To ensure effective delivery of its objectives, OAG is structured into two teams:

- Finance, Commercial and Strategy responsible for Fund Management, Financial Reporting, Commercial Agreements and Future Strategy
- Service, Policy Legislation and Communication responsible for all service delivery, policy and related legislative matters and communication.

I hold regular meetings with the Deputy Accountant General to discuss performance against the objectives in the Business Plan.

Management Team Effectiveness

All OAG staff members are subject to MoJ's performance management framework. Each member has individual objectives aligned to the annual Business Plan. Individual performance is managed through the line management chain to the Head of OAG, who reports to the Deputy Accountant General. Monthly meetings between me, or my designated nominee, and the Deputy Accountant General include a review of team performance and delivery against objectives.

Posts within the OAG are filled in accordance with the MoJ recruitment policy. This is based on open and fair competition. Advertisements include a job description and person specification setting out the required. Applications and interviews are considered based on the success profile information provided by the candidate.

There were no performance or conduct issues relating to OAG staff during the year.

I am satisfied with the performance of the OAG over the year and the support it has provided to me in meeting my obligations as Accountant General.

Governance

OAG has a governance framework which operates to provide me with assurance on the efficient and effective delivery of its objectives.

The OAG Management Team meets each month to review performance against the Business Plan and the standing agenda covers all areas of responsibility. The meetings are chaired by the Deputy Accountant General and are attended by all permanent employees of OAG. Where appropriate, others may be invited to attend meetings to observe or advise but are not part of the decision-making process. Management Team members are provided with an information pack that includes reports on performance against Pls provided by NS&I, together with reports on other matters such as change requests, policy, legislation and finance.

All decisions and actions are minuted and I am made aware of them to the extent and as required by the Deputy Accountant General. Copies of minutes together with any associated papers are retained by OAG and are available for inspection by internal and external auditors. At the reporting date, OAG was content with the accuracy and completeness of its internal Management Information (MI) and the external PI and financial information provided by NS&I.

The Deputy Accountant General is supported by the following groups:

- Risk Review Group, responsible for assessing and monitoring potential risks to the OAG meeting the Business Plan objectives. The group reports to the monthly OAG Management Team Meeting for formal sign off.
- Finance Review Group, responsible for detailed monitoring of fund levels, in-year and future financial forecasts and financial risks. The group also reports to the monthly OAG Management Team Meeting for formal sign off.

Lord Chancellor's Strategic Investment Board

The Lord Chancellor's Strategic Investment Board is responsible for provision of advice and governance on the investment of funds including:

- Advice on investment strategy, performance benchmarks and related investment matters including guidelines for external managers
- Advice on the appointment of external managers to invest the client monies coming within the care of the Ministry of Justice
- Oversight of the Fund's performance against established industry benchmarks, providing robust challenge, advice and direction to the external managers as appropriate.

The Board comprises two non-executive investment advisors and representatives from each of the investing bodies. The Lord Chancellor is regularly informed of the Board's activity and provides direction as required. I attend the Strategic Investment Board on behalf of the CFO clients.

CFO Service

The client operational service is outsourced to NS&I who carry out all the back office and help desk functions relating to clients. The definition of the service requirements for clients, including PIs and the underlying control framework, are defined in the MoU between the Accountant General and NS&I.

Day-to-day oversight of the CFO Service is carried out by the Head of Service Delivery and Contract Management. NS&I reports formally to OAG on the CFO Service through the Operational Delivery Group (ODG). The ODG is chaired by NS&I and is attended by OAG. Its function is to receive reports on the CFO Service delivery, ensuring operational objectives are achieved, risks, issues and major incidents are managed, and change requests progressed. It provides OAG with a regular opportunity to investigate and challenge any failures of service quality, including PI breaches or delays in change requests. The ODG meets monthly and all decisions and actions are minuted. The output from the ODG is reported to the OAG Management Team meeting each month.

The Deputy Accountant General and the NS&I Director for Business to Business (B2B) attend the ODG on a quarterly basis to receive reports on performance and provide any strategic direction required by the Group.

NS&I has its own internal assurance team and control framework covering the CFO Service.

Internal Audit

The MoJ Internal audit function, part of the Government Internal Audit Agency (GIAA), acts on behalf of MoJ and reviews any area of OAG's activities they deem necessary. The schedule of work is discussed and agreed between OAG and GIAA at the beginning of each financial year. This allows both parties to plan for the work but does not constrain GIAA from carrying out further work should the need arise.

GIAA does not normally include the outsourced operations of NS&I in its annual plan except where agreed in the risk-based approach above. However, under the terms of the MoU with NS&I, GIAA have right of access if either OAG or MoJ decide this is necessary to ensure the statutory duties of the Accountant General have been or are being correctly discharged.

GIAA has no authority to audit Legal & General in respect of the Common Investment Fund.

There was one internal audit report issued during the reporting period which was a follow up review from 2020/21 of the governance and assurance arrangements between OAG and NS&I. The assurance level was assessed as Green – Adequate and Effective reflecting on the implementation of recommendations from the prior year report which have strengthened the governance arrangements.

GIAA also provides an annual assurance of the control framework underpinning the CFO Service. This assurance review covers a range of operational activities based on risk assessment of the key areas and is a rolling annual programme. For reporting year 2021-22 GIAA gave an overall moderate assessment of the control framework and make recommendations on where it could be strengthened and OAG will work with NS&I to ensure these recommendations are implemented over reporting year 2022-23.

Risk Management

OAG manages risks against its Delivery Plan objectives through the Risk Review Group and the monthly Management Team Meeting. The Risk Review Group meets at the beginning of each year to assess the nature and scale of the risks associated with the objectives in the Delivery Plan, to identify effective controls are in place and decide what further actions are necessary to mitigate the risks.

The Risk Review Group meets monthly to review the Risk Register, Incident Log and Issues Log, and provides an updated report to OAG's monthly management meeting.

High level risks are closely monitored, and action is taken against all risks with a view to reducing the risk as per the risk appetite. The nature of some risks means they cannot be avoided, prevented or resolved, and must be managed by OAG.

The key risks categories are explained in the following paragraphs.

Liquidity Risk

Under the provisions of the Administration of Justice Act 1982, funds paid into court must be transferred to the CRND. To ensure that sufficient liquidity is maintained risk is managed by DMO by placing cash in the Court Funds Investment Account (CFIA) which invests in short term deposits. Such deposits are either fixed term but of short duration, typically up to seven days, or instant access deposits with funds available on demand. This creates a return on investments equal to the Bank of England base rate and ensures sufficient cash is always available to fund payments requested by clients.

Investment Risk

Funds in court are guaranteed to the extent the Administration of Justice Act 1982 provides that any shortfall in funds payable to clients will be met from the Consolidated Fund. The process adopted by DMO for managing the liquidity risk means the return to clients of the cash held in court is likely to be limited to a rate at or near the Bank of England base rate but with no risk of capital loss. It is not the function of the CFO to grow the value of funds held in court.

The Court Funds Rules 2011 provide that in certain cases, subject to minimum thresholds on time and value of investment, funds can be transferred to the Common Investment Fund (CIF). The CIF is an Equity Index Tracker Fund managed by Legal & General that offers clients a balance of risk and reward by spreading funds across three different underlying investment funds: UK, International, and Emerging Markets. Investment in the CIF in part transfers risk to the client in that; any loss in value suffered by the CIF is carried by the client and cannot be claimed back from CFIA, however, in most cases, only a proportion of a client's fund would be invested in the CIF, the remainder being held in the CFIA.

This approach provides some clients with an opportunity to achieve capital growth but at their own risk, whilst assisting them in managing the overall investment risk.

Operational Risk

OAG manages its operational risk primarily by outsourcing the administration of client funds to NS&I. NS&I is obliged to provide the CFO Service in accordance with the terms of the MoU which details how the service to clients will be delivered, including Performance Indicators (PIs). Where NS&I fail to meet the PI targets, financial penalties are applied and if a client suffers financial loss through an error by NS&I liability for the financial impact sits with them.

Management Risk (OAG)

OAG is a small organisation of ten staff and the primary risk relates to ensuring all posts are filled with individuals with the relevant skills and experience. All posts were filled throughout the year with one exception where the recruitment process is in progress. The Deputy Accountant General manages the succession and cover strategy for the team to manage the overall delivery of objectives. The transfer of business knowledge is managed through OAG's own governance structure and also as part of adhering to MoJ corporate policies on data retention.

Foreign Exchange Risk

Where client funds are paid into court in a currency other than sterling, the Accountant General acts solely as custodian and is responsible for the appropriate administrative functions to support any client transactions. Such functions are covered under operational risk. Any foreign exchange risk associated with holding funds in a foreign currency is borne by the client, both gain and loss. Therefore, OAG bears no foreign exchange risk.

Market Risk (Securities)

Where clients have securities paid into court, the Accountant General acts as custodian and is responsible for the appropriate administrative functions to support any subsequent transactions. Where clients have funds invested in the EITF they bear the risk of any movements in the unit market value. Administrative functions are covered under operational risk. Any market risk associated with the holding of securities is borne by the client. Therefore, the Accountant General bears no market risk relating to any securities under his custodianship.

Legal Risk

Funds in Court is covered by a number of pieces of legislation both specific to how funds are managed in court and the wider regulations relating to financial services e.g. dealing with sanctioned bodies. This is managed through maintaining and reviewing of CFO Rules and specialist advice is taken from the Government Legal Department.

Control Incidents

There were no control incidents during the reporting year or at the signing date.

Administrative Obligations

Information Assurance, particularly relating to the clients, is a critical activity to me as Accountant General and as part of MoJ. OAG follows MoJ policy on information assurance to ensure that I am compliant with the rules as they apply to public sector bodies. There is an OAG Information Asset Owner who follows the process for reporting and escalating to the Senior Information Risk Owner who will keep me advised of any issues as appropriate. All requirements of the General Data Protection Regulations (GDPR) have been implemented and are operating effectively. There were no data incidents that need to be reported during the reporting year.

There is a system in place to manage H&S risks, control weaknesses and comply with the MoJ Corporate Health and Safety Policy (Statement of Intent). This system also supports any local policies and arrangements as appropriate.

Overall Assessment of Governance Framework

I am satisfied that the governance framework as described in this statement is correct and that there are the necessary systems and processes in place which enable me to maintain an effective system of internal control throughout OAG that supports the achievement of policies, aims and objectives, whilst safeguarding the funds and assets for which I am personally accountable.

James McEwen

Accountant General of the Senior Courts 5 July 2022

The Certificate and Report of the Comptroller and Auditor General to the Houses of Parliament

Opinion on financial statements

I certify that I have audited the financial statements of the Funds in Court in England and Wales – Part A for the year ended 28 February 2022 under the Administration of Justice Act 1982.

The financial statements comprise the Funds in Court in England and Wales – Part A:

- Statement of Financial Position as at 28 February 2022;
- Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure and Statement of Cash Flows; and
- the related notes including the significant accounting policies.

The financial reporting framework that has been applied in the preparation of the financial statements is applicable law and UK adopted International Accounting Standards.

In my opinion, the financial statements:

- give a true and fair view of the state of the Funds in Court in England and Wales Part A's affairs as at 28 February 2022 and its net expenditure for the year then ended; and
- have been properly prepared in accordance with the Administration of Justice Act 1982 and HM Treasury directions issued thereunder.

Opinion on regularity

In my opinion, in all material respects, the income and expenditure recorded in the financial statements have been applied to the purposes intended by Parliament and the financial transactions recorded in the financial statements conform to the authorities which govern them.

Basis for opinions

I conducted my audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (ISAs UK), applicable law and Practice Note 10 Audit of Financial Statements of Public Sector Entities in the United Kingdom. My responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor's responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements section of my certificate.

Those standards require me and my staff to comply with the Financial Reporting Council's Revised Ethical Standard 2019. I have also elected to apply the ethical standards relevant to listed entities. I am independent of the Funds in Court in England and Wales – Part A in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to my audit of the financial statements in the UK. My staff and I have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements.

I believe that the audit evidence I have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my opinion.

Conclusions relating to going concern

In auditing the financial statements, I have concluded that the Funds in Court in England and Wales – Part A's use of the going concern basis of accounting in the preparation of the financial statements is appropriate.

Based on the work I have performed, I have not identified any material uncertainties relating to events or conditions that, individually or collectively, may cast significant doubt on the Funds in Court in England and Wales – Part A's ability to continue as a going concern for a period of at least twelve months from when the financial statements are authorised for issue.

My responsibilities and the responsibilities of the Accountant General with respect to going concern are described in the relevant sections of this certificate.

The going concern basis of accounting for the Funds in Court in England and Wales – Part A is adopted in consideration of the requirements set out in HM Treasury's Government Financial Reporting Manual, which require entities to adopt the going concern basis of accounting in the preparation of the financial statements where it anticipated that the services which they provide will continue into the future.

Other Information

The other information comprises information included in the Annual Report, but does not include the financial statements nor my auditor's certificate and report. The Accountant General is responsible for the other information.

My opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and, except to the extent otherwise explicitly stated in my certificate, I do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with my audit of the financial statements, my responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or my knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If I identify such material inconsistencies or apparent material misstatements, I am required to determine whether this gives rise to a material misstatement in the financial statements themselves. If, based on the work I have performed, I conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, I am required to report that fact.

I have nothing to report in this regard.

Opinion on other matters

In my opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit:

- the parts of the Accountability Report subject to audit have been properly prepared in accordance with HM Treasury directions made under the Administration of Justice Act 1982; and
- the information given in the Performance and Accountability Reports for the financial year for which the financial statements are prepared is consistent with the financial statements and is in accordance with the applicable legal requirements.

Matters on which I report by exception

In the light of the knowledge and understanding of the Funds in Court in England and Wales – Part A and its environment obtained in the course of the audit, I have not identified material misstatements in the Performance and Accountability Report.

I have nothing to report in respect of the following matters which I report to you if, in my opinion:

- I have not received all of the information and explanations I require for my audit; or
- adequate accounting records have not been kept by the Funds in Court in England and Wales Part A or returns
 adequate for my audit have not been received from branches not visited by my staff; or
- the financial statements and the parts of the Accountability Report subject to audit are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns; or
- the Governance Statement does not reflect compliance with HM Treasury's guidance.

Responsibilities of the Accountant General for the financial statements

As explained more fully in the Statement of the Accountant General's Responsibilities, the Accountant General, as Accounting Officer, is responsible for:

- maintaining proper accounting records;
- the preparation of the financial statements and Annual Report in accordance with the applicable financial reporting framework and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view;
- ensuring that the Annual Report and accounts as a whole is fair, balanced and understandable;
- internal controls as the Accountant General determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statement to be free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; and
- assessing the Funds in Court in England and Wales Part A's ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the Accountant General anticipates that the services provided by the Funds in Court in England and Wales Part A will not continue to be provided in the future.

Auditor's responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

My responsibility is to audit, certify and report on the financial statements in accordance with the Administration of Justice Act 1982.

My objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue a certificate that includes my opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs (UK) will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

Extent to which the audit was considered capable of detecting non-compliance with laws and regulations including fraud

I design procedures in line with my responsibilities, outlined above, to detect material misstatements in respect of non-compliance with laws and regulations, including fraud. The extent to which my procedures are capable of detecting non-compliance with laws and regulations, including fraud is detailed below.

Identifying and assessing potential risks related to non-compliance with laws and regulations, including fraud In identifying and assessing risks of material misstatement in respect of non-compliance with laws and regulations, including fraud, we considered the following:

- the nature of the Funds in Court in England and Wales Part A, its control environment and operational performance including the design of the Funds in Court in England and Wales Part A's accounting policies.
- Inquiring of management and those charged with governance, including obtaining and reviewing supporting documentation relating to the Funds in Court in England and Wales – Part A's policies and procedures relating to:
 - identifying, evaluating and complying with laws and regulations and whether they were aware of any instances of non-compliance;
 - detecting and responding to the risks of fraud and whether they have knowledge of any actual, suspected
 or alleged fraud; and
 - the internal controls established to mitigate risks related to fraud or non-compliance with laws and regulations including the Funds in Court in England and Wales Part A's controls relating to the Funds in Court in England and Wales Part A's compliance with the Administration of Justice Act 1982, the Court Funds Rules 2011 and Managing Public Money;
- discussing among the engagement team regarding how and where fraud might occur in the financial statements and any potential indicators of fraud.

As a result of these procedures, I considered the opportunities and incentives that may exist within the Funds in Court in England and Wales – Part A for fraud. In common with all audits under ISAs (UK), I am also required to perform specific procedures to respond to the risk of management override of controls.

I also obtained an understanding of the Funds in Court in England and Wales – Part A's framework of authority as well as other legal and regulatory frameworks in which the Funds in Court in England and Wales – Part A operates, focusing on those laws and regulations that had a direct effect on material amounts and disclosures in the financial statements or that had a fundamental effect on the operations of the Funds in Court in England and Wales – Part A. The key laws and regulations I considered in this context included Administration of Justice Act 1982, the Court Funds Rules 2011 and Managing Public Money.

In addition, I considered the risks of non-compliance with laws and regulation arising from payments to sanctioned individuals or entities.

Audit response to identified risk

As a result of performing the above, the procedures I implemented to respond to identified risks included the following:

- reviewing the financial statement disclosures and testing to supporting documentation to assess compliance with provisions of relevant laws and regulations described above as having direct effect on the financial statements;
- enquiring of management concerning actual and potential litigation and claims;
- reading and reviewing minutes of meetings of those charged with governance and internal audit reports;
- in addressing the risk of fraud through management override of controls, testing the appropriateness of journal entries and other adjustments; assessing whether the judgements made in making accounting estimates are indicative of a potential bias; and evaluating the business rationale of any significant transactions that are unusual or outside the normal course of business; and

assessing all payments made during the year to sanctioned individuals or entities or ensure appropriate approvals had been obtained (i.e. those payments made to individuals, organisations or countries which are subject to sanctions by the United Kingdom at the time of the payments).

I also communicated relevant identified laws and regulations and potential fraud risks to all engagement team members and remained alert to any indications of fraud or non-compliance with laws and regulations throughout the audit.

A further description of my responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located on the Financial Reporting Council's website at: www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description forms part of my certificate.

Other auditor's responsibilities

I am required to obtain evidence sufficient to give reasonable assurance that the income and expenditure reported in the financial statements have been applied to the purposes intended by Parliament and the financial transactions conform to the authorities which govern them.

I communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that I identify during my audit.

Report

I have no observations to make on these financial statements.

Gareth Davies Comptroller and Auditor General

National Audit Office 157-197 Buckingham Palace Road Victoria London SW1W 9SP

12 July 2022

Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure for the year ended 28 February 2022

	Notes	28 February 2022 £000	28 February 2021 £000
Income			
Interest Income	2	3,775	3,669
Interest Due to Clients' Accounts	3	(1,591)	(3,479)
Net Interest Income		2,184	190
Dividend Income	4	953	1,535
Gains Arising from Securities	5	4,968	6,522
Gains on Foreign Exchange	6	964	(13)
Income Due to Clients' Holdings	7	(6,885)	(8,044)
Net investment Income			
Net Income		2,184	190
Expenses			
Administrative Expenses – OAG	8	(5,027)	(5,230)
Management Charges from CRND		(94)	(94)
Total Expenses		(5,121)	(5,324)
Total Comprehensive Net Expenditure Transferred to Reserves		(2,937)	(5,134)

The notes on pages 25 to 35 form part of these Accounts.

Statement of Financial Position as at 28 February 2022

	Notes	28 February 2022 £000	28 February 2021 £000
Assets Current Assets Cash and Cash Equivalents Deposits and Advances Debt Securities Investment Securities Total Assets	9 10 11 12	48,168 2,543,199 152 80,495 2,672,014	45,817 2,392,857 259 81,137 2,520,070
Liabilities Current Liabilities Cash and Cash Equivalents Clients' Holdings in Debt Securities Clients' Holdings in Investment Securities Clients' Cash Account Balances Other Liabilities Total Current Liabilities	9 11 12 13 14	(152) (80,495) (2,589,102) (5,121) (2,674,870)	(322) (259) (81,137) (2,428,978) (13,263) (2,523,959)
Total Assets Less Total Liabilities		(2,856)	(3,889)
Reserves	15	(2,856)	(3,889)

James McEwen

Accountant General of the Senior Courts 5 July 2022

The notes on pages 25 to 35 form part of these Accounts.

Statement of Cash Flows for the year ended 28 February 2022

	Notes	28 February 2022 £000	28 February 2021 £000
Cash Flows from Operating Activities			
Total Comprehensive Net Expenditure		(2,937)	(5,134)
(Increase) in Deposits and Advances		(150,342)	(53,536)
Decrease in Debt Securities		107	97
Decrease/(Increase) in Investment Securities		642	(14)
Increase/(Decrease) in Client Cash Accounts		160,124	(295,832)
(Decrease) in Client Holdings in Debt Securities		(107)	(97)
(Decrease)/Increase in Client Holdings in Investment Securities		(642)	14
Increase/(Decrease) in Other Liabilities		(247)	(385)
Increase/(Decrease) in Other Non Cash Movements		3,970	
Net Cash Flows from Operating Activities		10,568	(354,887)
Cash Flows from Investing Activities		-	-
Net Cash Flows from Financing Activities		_	-
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents in the period before adjustment for payments to the Consolidated Fund		10,568	(354,887)
Payment of surplus in respect of previous years to the Consolidated Fund	d	(7,895)	
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents in the period after adjustment for receipts and payments			
to the Consolidated Fund		2,673	(354,887)
Opening cash and cash equivalents Closing cash and cash equivalents	9	45,495 48,168	400,382 45,495

The comparative has been reclassified to show all movements in Deposits and Advances as part of operating cash flows (consistent with the treatment of debt and investment securities), rather than showing movements in accrued interest in operating cash-flows and other movements in balances in investing activities. The effect is to reduce investing cash-flows and increase operating cash-flows in 2020-21 by £54.7m. The presentation of transactions as operating cash flows is considered to most appropriately represent the nature of the operations of Funds in Court.

The notes on pages 25 to 35 form part of these Accounts

Notes to the Financial Statements

1. Statement of Accounting Policies

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the direction made by HM Treasury under section 45 of the Administration of Justice Act 1982, as detailed on page 3 of the Annual Report and Accounts. In applying this direction, due regard is given to the Government Financial Reporting Manual (FReM) issued by HM Treasury. The accounting policies contained in FReM apply International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as adapted or interpreted for the public sector context. Where the FReM permits a choice of accounting policy, the accounting policy which is judged to be most appropriate to the specific circumstances of the Funds in Court in England & Wales (Part A), for the purpose of giving a true and fair view has been selected. The specific policies adopted are described below. They have been applied consistently in dealing with items that are considered material to the Accounts.

1.1. Accounting Convention

These Accounts have been prepared under the historical cost convention, modified to account for the revaluation of certain financial assets and liabilities to the extent that such requirements are relevant to the activities of the CFO (CFO).

1.2. Consolidation Boundaries

There are three parts to the Accounts:

- Part A Funds in Court Accountant General's Accounts
- Part B Court Funds Investment Account (CFIA) Commissioners for the Reduction of the National Debt (CRND)'s Accounts
- Part C The Equity Index Tracker Fund (EITF) Investment Manager's Accounts.

All three parts of the accounts are prepared on an accrual basis. Part A accounts incorporate the Part B accounts and the elements of the Part C accounts that relate to CFO clients, together with the cash and securities paid into court and OAG's administrative expenses.

The Accountant General's Accounts (Part A) have been prepared in accordance with the direction given by HM Treasury in pursuance of Section 45(2) of the Administration of Justice Act 1982 (the Act). Deposits under the various enactments referred to in Section 40 of the Act are not segregated in the Accounts.

1.3. Cash and Cash Equivalents and Deposits and Advances

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash and short-term bank deposits with an original maturity of three months or less. Bank overdrafts are classified as a component of cash equivalents for the purposes of the statement of cashflows.

Amounts invested in the Commissioners for the Reduction of the National Debt Court Funds Investment Account are presented as 'Deposits and Advances'. These are financial assets held for investment purposes to collect cash flows of principal and interest on specified dates. Therefore, these deposits are treated as financial assets measured at amortised cost rather than a component of cash and cash equivalents.

1.4. Recognition of Income

Interest earned and due for all interest-bearing financial instruments are recognised in "Interest Income" and "Interest Due to Clients' Accounts" in the Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure using the Effective Interest Rate (EIR) method of allocating interest over the relevant period. Interest earned and due is recognised from the settlement date.

Income is recognised in the Accounts on the following bases:

- Interest on investments is recognised as it accrues on an EIR basis rather than on a cash received basis; dividends are accrued as they are declared
- Realised gains and losses on disposals or maturities of investments are recognised in the period they arise
- Valuation gains and losses on securities and collective investment schemes are recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure and are included in the carrying value of those securities in the Statement of Financial Position.

1.5. Valuation of Securities & Common Investment Funds

All securities and common investment funds are designated as financial assets held at fair value through profit and loss and are shown in the Statement of Financial Position at market value. This is in accordance with accounting standard IFRS9.

Fair values of investment securities are determined by reference to published price quotations in an active market. There are certain movements in securities where no cash transfer occurs (deposits and transfers). These include securities previously held by clients that are transferred into Court (deposits) or securities held which are transferred to clients rather than being sold (transfers). For these movements, cash values are calculated by using closing market prices applicable on the date the transaction occurs. The Accountant General has no responsibility for such securities and acts only as the custodian for these legacy clients. All associated risks such as market movements, interest rate and credit and managed between the clients and their brokers.

Fair value of the Equity Index Tracker Fund (the common investment fund) is determined by use of the Net Asset Value as at 28 February 2022. Associated risks of the financial instruments such as securities and derivatives are subject to normal market fluctuations and investing in such instruments. Legal & General is the Authorised Fund Manager and has responsibility for ensuring appropriate risk management processes are implemented for each Unit Trust. Interest Rate Risk is the risk of movements in the value of financial instruments as a result of fluctuations in interest rates. The Fund's only interest-bearing financial instruments were its bank balances and overdraft facilities. Cash is deposited and overdraft facilities utilised on normal commercial terms and earn, or bear interest based on commercial rates. In the event of a change in interest rates, there would be no material impact upon the assets of the Fund. Credit Risk is the risk of suffering financial loss as a result of a counterparty to a financial transaction being unable to fulfil their financial obligations as they fall due. This risk is managed by appraising the credit profile of financial instruments and issuers in line with the Fund's investment strategy. The Accountant General is responsible for CFO clients with holdings in the fund.

Funds in Court Part C - Note 12 produced by L&G provides further information.

1.6. FRS102 – Financial Reporting

The Part C Legal & General EITF accounts are accounted for under FRS 102 and the investment SORP, whereas the Funds in Court Part A accounts are accounted for under FReM. Although the accounting policy for the Part A account is to incorporate only those elements of Part C that apply, a review was carried out to ensure the different accounting standards do not result in a material difference in policy. As both FRS102 and FReM value such investments on the same basis, which is fair value, the result, there is no material difference between the two. This will be reviewed each year to ensure that future changes in accounting standards do not result in any material differences.

1.7. Reserves held by CRND

Other Reserves held by CRND relate to surplus or accrued interest in the CFIA as at 28 February 2022. See Note 15.

1.8. Administrative Expenses - OAG

The administrative expenses of OAG are paid in advance by the Ministry of Justice who then recover the costs from surplus interest earned on client funds in the year. OAG only incurs costs that are directly attributable to the delivery of its responsibilities to the clients. There are corporate services such as ICT, Human Resources, and Legal Services that are provided by the Ministry of Justice because it is more cost effective than OAG sourcing provision of such services itself.

1.9. Client Fees

OAG clients do not pay fees towards the costs of the services provided. OAG costs are recovered through the surplus interest earned on client funds in the CFIA. Clients with funds in the EITF pay management fees at source to Legal & General and these are reflected in the Net Asset Value of these holdings.

1.10. Foreign Currency

Assets and liabilities included in the Statement of Financial Position that have a functional currency different from the presentational currency are translated into the presentational currency (Sterling) at the closing rate at 28 February 2022.

The only foreign currency positions that are maintained are on behalf of clients who wish to hold Funds in Court in an alternative currency to Sterling. These funds are held in accounts with correspondent banks and earn interest in the relevant currency. Gains and losses on foreign exchange movements are calculated based on monthly movements in the exchange rates.

Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from revaluations are taken to the Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure, but as the risk is borne by the clients a balancing transaction is reflected to adjust clients' holdings in the functional currency.

1.11. Ways & Means

End of day cash surpluses in the CFIA are swept daily to the National Loans Fund (NLF) and are repayable on demand while the NLF makes good any daily shortfall of monies in the CFIA. These investments are known as Ways & Means.

1.12. Accounting standards issued during the year

There were no accounting standards issued during the year that impact on Funds in Court.

1.13. Key judgements and assumptions

The Accountant General acts as custodian for funds in court and follows the legislation and policies relating to client funds. The Accountant General does not exercise any judgements on this process in how and when funds are invested which are decided by the judicial decisions as per the relevant court order. This also applies to securities paid into court which belong to the client who will have their own individual brokers to provide advice.

The Lord Chancellor's Strategic Investment Board will make judgements on how the funds in the Equity Index Tracker Fund are allocated between the different indices. The Accountant General is a member of the Board, and as part of the Board, makes judgements based on the advice of the Non-Executive Investment Advisors.

2. Interest Income

28	8 February	28 February
	2022	2021
	£000	£000
Foreign Exchange	1	688
Deposits & Advances	3,738	2,944
Debt Securities	36	37
Destrocanics		
Total Interest Income	3,775	3,669
3. Interest Due to Clients' Accounts		
28	8 February	28 February
	2022	2021
	£000	£000
Court Funds – Basic Account	(442)	(600)
Court Funds – Special Account	(1,112)	(2,154)
Foreign Exchange	(1,112)	(688)
Debt Securities	(36)	(37)
Debt Securities		
Total Interest Due to Clients' Accounts	(1,591)	(3,479)
4. Dividend Income		
28	3 February	28 February
	2022	2021
	£000	£000
Dividends Received in Year	384	2,489
Dividends Accrued - period end	935	366
Dividends Accrued - period start	(366)	(1,320)
Total Dividend Income	953	1,535
5. Gains Arising from Securities		
28	8 February	28 February
	2022	2021
	£000	£000
Client Securities	4,968	6,522
Total Gains Arising from Securities	4,968	6,522

6. Gains Arising from Foreign Currency

	28 February 2022 £000	28 February 2021 £000
US Dollars Euros	1,194 (230)	114 (127)
Total Gains from Foreign Exchange	964	(13)

7. Income due to Clients' Holdings

	28 February 2022 £000	28 February 2021 £000
Dividend Income	(953)	(1,535)
Gains Arising from Securities	(4,968)	(6,522)
(Gains)/Losses Arising from Foreign Exchange	(964)	13
Total Income Due to Clients' Holdings	(6,885)	(8,044)

All income earned on securities and foreign currency accounts, and the associated risk on market movements, is solely attributable to the clients.

8. Administrative Expenses - OAG

	28 February 2022 £000	28 February 2021 £000
Staff Costs	(503)	(468)
General Support	(78)	(127)
Third Party Supplier	(4,446)	(4,635)
Total Administrative Expenses	(5,027)	(5,230)
iotal Administrative Expenses	(3,027)	(3,2

Staff costs cover OAG team who are Ministry of Justice Civil Servants. Staff costs are charged to FIC.

9. Cash and Cash Equivalents

	28 February 2022 £000	28 February 2021 £000
Foreign Exchange Bank Accounts		
Balance at 1 March	45,817	387,841
Net change in cash and cash equivalents	(16,591)	(342,024)
Balance at Year End	29,226	45,817
Sterling Bank Accounts		
Balance at 1 March	(322)	12,541
Net change in cash and cash equivalents	19,264	(12,863)
Balance at Year End	18,942	(322)
Net Cash and Cash Equivalents	48,168	45,495
10. Deposits and Advances		
	28 February	28 February
	2022	2021
	£000	£000
Call Notice Deposits	2,543,199	2,392,857
Total Deposits and Advances	2,543,199	2,392,857

11. Clients' Holdings in Debt Securities

•	2022	Nominal £000	Market Value £000
Holdings held on behalf of Clients Dividends and Coupons Due		114 -	118 34
Total Debt Security Holdings		114	152
	2021	Nominal £000	Market Value £000
Holdings held on behalf of Clients Dividends and Coupons Due		202	224 35
Total Debt Security Holdings		202	259
	2022	Nominal £000	Market Value £000
Maturing < 3 months Maturing > 3 months but < 1 year Maturing > 1 year but < 5 years Maturing > 5 years		- - 58 56	- - 61 57
Total Debt Security Holdings		114	118
	2021	Nominal £000	Market Value £000
Maturing < 3 months Maturing > 3 months but < 1 year Maturing > 1 year but < 5 years Maturing > 5 years		121 81	63 161
Total Debt Security Holdings		202	

Debt securities consist of UK Treasury issued gilts purchased by brokers on behalf of clients. The note sets out both the market value and nominal value of the respective gilt and a maturity profile. The Accountant General as custodian has no role in investment decisions, this is by direction of the court or at the request of the client.

12. Clients' Holdings in Investment Securities

Market Valuation Summary	28 February 2022	28 February 2021
	£000	£000
Equity Index Tracker Fund	75,810	76,534
Unit Trust Holdings	2,158	2,591
Stocks, Shares and Loan Notes	1,593	1,646
Total	79,561	80,771
Dividends and Coupons Due Equity Index Tracker Fund	931	358
Unit Trust Holdings	2	2
Stocks, Shares and Loan Notes	1	6
Total	934	366
Total Value of Investment Securities		
Equity Index Tracker Fund	76,741	76,892
Unit Trust Holdings	2,160	2,593
Stocks, Shares and Loan Notes	1,594	1,652
Total	80,495	81,137
Market Holdings Summary (Units)	28 February	28 February
	2022	2021
	000	000
Equity Index Tracker Fund	3,986	4,305
Unit Trust Holdings	924	1,179
Stocks, Shares and Loan Notes	225	251
Total Investment Securities	5,135	5,735
Movements in Holdings during the Year (Units)	28 February	28 February
	2022	2021
	000	000
Balance at start of year	5,735	6,306
Purchases during Year	217	505
Sold during Year	(561)	(807)
Net Transfers (to)/from Clients	(256)	(269)
Balance as at year end	5,135	5,735

Investment Securities relate to holdings held by the Accountant General on behalf of clients and comprise of:

- Holdings in the Equity Index Tracker Fund (EITF)
- Holdings of unit trusts deposited in court by clients
- Holdings of individual stocks and shares.

The note sets out the market value of these holdings along with the associated accrued income. The note also provides an analysis of the number of units held for investment securities and details for the In-Year movements in terms of purchases, sales and transfers.

EITF holdings as at 28 February 2022 were valued at a Net Asset Value of 1,902.60p (1,777.97p as at 28 February 2021).

13. Clients' Cash Account Balances

	28 February 2022 £000	28 February 2021 £000
Court Funds placed on Basic Account	823,478	728,364
Court Funds placed on Special Account	1,121,268	1,136,487
Unclaimed Balances	382,647	371,072
Other Suitors Deposited in the Senior Courts	232,483	147,238
Clients' Monies Held as Foreign Exchange	29,226	45,817
Total Client Balances	2,589,102	2,428,978

All client cash account balances other than those held as foreign exchange are invested in the UK Debt Management Office (UKDMO), an executive agency of HM Treasury. The funds are invested by UKDMO in short term call notice deposits and guaranteed by HM Treasury and so the liquidity risk is negligible. The interest rate earned on client funds is pegged to the Bank of England Base Rate and is guaranteed by HM Treasury. The interest rate payable to clients is linked to the Bank of England Base Rate and is set in agreement with HM Treasury.

Clients Monies held as foreign exchange are invested in foreign currency accounts managed by the Government Banking Service. The exchange rate risk is fluctuations in exchange rates whilst the interest rate risk is fluctuations in interest rates payable on these accounts. Both risks are borne by the client.

13a. Clients' Receipts and Payments During Year

28 February 2022 £000	28 February 2021 £000
2,428,978	2,724,810
814,912 (9,537) 1,258	617,207 (9,451) 2,374
806,633	610,130
(653,346) 4,347	(916,147) 6,697
(648,999)	(909,450)
1,075 964	3,070 (14)
2,588,651	2,428,546
451	432
2,589,102	2,428,978
28 February 2022 £000	28 February 2021 £000
5,027 - 94	5,274 7,895 94
5,121	13,263
	2022 £000 2,428,978 814,912 (9,537) 1,258 806,633 (653,346) 4,347 (648,999) 1,075 964 2,588,651 451 2,589,102 28 February 2022 £000 5,027 94

15. Reserves

	28 February 2022 £000	28 February 2021 £000
Interest Reserves held by CRND		
Opening Balance	(3,889)	1,245
Prior Year contribution from MoJ	3,970	-
Total Comprehensive Net Expenditure	(2,937)	(5,134)
Closing Balance	(2,856)	(3,889)

16. Events after the Reporting Period

A high value case was settled after the reporting period, but the funds have not been paid out as subject to final hearings. This is disclosed on the basis of value as the case related to funds of £386m.

The Accounting Officer authorised these financial statements for issue on 5 July 2022.

17. Provisions for Liabilities and Charges

There were no provisions made for liabilities and charges within the reporting period.

18. Contingent Liability

There were no contingent liabilities as at 28 February 2022 or 28 February 2021.

19. Physical Effects

The Accountant General acts as custodian for client physical effects that have been paid into court. These assets generally have no financial value and consist of legal documents, deeds and wills. There are two physical effects that have a notional financial value as follows:

- Sixteen gold US Dollar coins paid into court in the early 20th Century are held in a safety deposit box
- A bag of 1,746 silver and 4 gold coins paid into court in the 18th Century are on loan to the British Museum.

The total value of both sets of coins is estimated to be £60,000.

Accounts Direction given by HM Treasury

FUNDS IN COURT IN ENGLAND AND WALES - ACCOUNT OF THE TRANSACTIONS OF THE ACCOUNTANT GENERAL UNDER SECTION 38 OF THE ADMINISTRATION OF JUSTICE ACT 1982

HMTreasury, in pursuance of section 45 of the Administration of Justice Act 1982. hereby gives the following Direction:

- The Accountant General of the Senior Courts shall prepare accounts for the financial year ending 28 February 2018 and for each subsequent financial year ending on the last day of February. The financial statements shall include the following information:
 - Annual Report comprising a Performance Report and an Accountability Report;
 - · Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure;
 - · Statement of Financial Position; and
 - · Statement of Cash Flows

The financial statements shall include such notes as may be necessary, to explain the transactions of the Accountant General under Section 38 of the Administration of Justice Act 1982, and for the purposes referred to in the following paragraphs.

- 2. The financial statements shall be prepared to:
 - a) give a true and fair view of the state of affairs as at 28 February 2018 and subsequent financial year ends and of the income and expenditure and cash flows of the year then ended.
 - b) provide disclosure of any material expenditure or income that has not been applied to the purposes intended by Parliament or material transactions that have not conformed to the authorities which govern them.
- 3. Compliance with the requirements of the FReM will, in all but exceptional circumstances, be necessary for the accounts to give a true and fair view. If, in these exceptional circumstances, compliance with the requirements of the FReM is inconsistent with the requirement to give a true and fair view, the requirements of the FReM should be departed from only to the extent necessary to give a true and fair view. In such cases, informed and unbiased judgement should be used to devise an appropriate alternative treatment which should be consistent with both the economic characteristics of the circumstances concerned and the spirit of the FReM. Any material departure from the FReM should be discussed in the first instance with HM Treasury.
- 4. The financial statements shall be sent to the Comptroller and Auditor General no later than the last day of July following the end of the accounting period.
- 5. The Annual Report shall state that the financial statements have been prepared in accordance with a Direction given by HM Treasury in pursuance of section 45(2) of the Administration of Justice Act 1982.
- 6. This direction shall be reproduced as an appendix to the financial statements.
- 7. This direction replaces the direction dated 19 February 2010.

Ian Bulmer

Deputy Director, Government Financial Reporting HM Treasury 4 July 2018

Commissioners for the Reduction of the National Debt Court Funds Investment Account Report and Accounts for the year ended 28 February 2022 Performance Report

Overview

The purpose of the overview is to provide sufficient information to understand the Court Funds Investment Account (CFIA), its purpose, the key risks to the achievement of its objectives, and how it has performed during the year.

These accounts have been prepared by the Commissioners for the Reduction of the National Debt (CRND) under a direction issued by HM Treasury in accordance with section 45 of the Administration of Justice Act 1982 (the Act).

Purpose and principal activities of the Court Funds Investment Account

The CFIA facilitates the operation of the basic and special accounts operated by the Office of the Accountant General (OAG) for suitors' funds paid into court in England and Wales; it also contains funds due to the Consolidated Fund.

By virtue of rules made under section 38(7) of the Act, on days when the Accountant General of the Senior Courts (the Accountant General) has excess cash in their account they remit the excess to CRND for investment in the CFIA, and on days when the balance in their account is insufficient to meet demands they make a withdrawal from the CFIA to make good the shortfall.

Section 39(1) of the Act authorises HM Treasury to make regulations setting out the range of investments in which CRND may invest money transferred to them by the Accountant General. Currently, investment is limited to securities specified in paragraphs 1, 2, 3, 8, 9 and 9A of Part 2 of Schedule 1 to the Trustee Investments Act 1961. Until required to meet payments, the interest or dividends received on investments held by CRND are reinvested in authorised securities. The resulting investments are held in the CFIA.

In recent years, CRND predominantly placed the funds of the CFIA with the Debt Management Account (one of HM Government's central Exchequer accounts) and occasionally transacted in UK Government gilt-edged securities (gilts). During 2021-2022, CRND placed the funds of the CFIA with the Debt Management Account.

Section 39(2) of the Act requires the payment into the Consolidated Fund of any surplus interest or dividends received in any accounting year by CRND and Section 39(3) provides for any deficiency of interest or dividends to be made good out of the Consolidated Fund. The amount of any surplus or deficiency is obtained by deducting from the interest and dividends received by CRND the sum of:

- any sum required by HM Treasury to be set aside to provide for depreciation in the value of investments so made;
- such sum as the Lord Chancellor may with the concurrence of HM Treasury direct to be paid to him in respect of the cost to him in that year of administering funds in court;
- 3 an amount equal to the expenses incurred by CRND in that year in making the investments above and disposing of investments so made: and
- 4 the interest due to be paid or credited on funds in court.

Section 39(5) of the Act provides a guarantee by the Consolidated Fund of the capital paid to CRND by the Accountant General in an instance when CRND are unable to pay a sum due to the Accountant General.

A deficit that exceeds the remaining reserves would lead to a call on the Consolidated Fund to meet any shortfall under section 39(3) of the Act.

Commissioners for the Reduction of the National Debt

CRND's main function is the investment and management of major Government funds. The investment powers differ from fund to fund.

The Secretary and Comptroller General and Assistant Comptroller, who are appointed by and act on behalf of the Commissioners, make the day-to-day decisions. There is no legislation that determines the specific responsibilities of the Secretary and Comptroller General and the Assistant Comptroller. However, in practice the role of the Secretary and Comptroller General is considered analogous to acting as the Accounting Officer for CRND. Therefore, the Secretary and Comptroller General takes responsibility for preparing and signing the accounts on behalf of the Commissioners.

The arrangements made between CRND and the OAG in respect of the investment service provided by CRND are set out in a Memorandum of Understanding, which describes how CRND intend to achieve the agreed investment objectives.

Performance summary

During 2021-2022, in accordance with the Memorandum of Understanding, the CFIA was invested in short-term deposits with the Debt Management Account. This strategy enabled the CFIA to earn a rate of interest very closely correlated with prevailing short-term sterling interest rates, whilst protecting its capital position and access to liquidity.

In the event of the CFIA having insufficient interest to meet its obligations, reserves would be used to cover the shortfall. Where reserves were insufficient to meet the obligations to suitors in any given year, the necessary funds would be recovered from the Consolidated Fund.

In accordance with section 39(2)(b) of the Act, the OAG obtained HM Treasury's concurrence to make a charge of £1.3 million (2020-2021: £1.3 million) in respect of the cost of administering funds in court. As was the case last year, the OAG received a subsidy from the Ministry of Justice in 2021-2022, which covered the remainder of the OAG's costs of administering funds in court for this year. This subsidy meant that the charge to the CFIA was lower than the full costs incurred by the OAG for administering funds in court.

The CFIA received sufficient interest during the year to meet its obligations to suitors (also described as 'interest payable on funds in court') after deducting the relevant amounts in respect of CRND's management expenses and the charge to the CFIA for OAG's costs of administering funds in court. As such, there was no need for the CFIA to draw upon its reserves to cover any shortfall. As at 31 March 2022, the CFIA had reserves of £0.9 million (31 March 2021: £0.1 million).

Performance analysis

During 2021-2022, total income before client expenses was £3.7 million (2020-2021: £2.9 million). The increase in income was primarily due to a rise in average interest rates on the CFIA's investments with the Debt Management Account, which correspond to the official Bank Rate. Interest payable on funds in court was £1.6 million (2020-2021: £2.8 million), CRND's management expenses were £0.1 million (2020-2021: £0.1 million), surplus payable to the Consolidated Fund was nil (2020-2021: nil) and the OAG's costs of administering funds in court were £1.3 million (2020-2021: £1.3 million). This resulted in an overall surplus for the year of £0.7 million (2020-2021: £1.2m deficit).

The OAG advanced £155.9 million (net of withdrawals) to the CFIA over the course of the year (2020 2021: £56.3 million net advance).

Jo Whelan

Secretary and Comptroller General to the Commissioners for the Reduction of the National Debt 5 July 2022

Accountability Report

The accountability report comprises two sections: a corporate governance report and a parliamentary accountability and audit report. The corporate governance report includes the following information: the responsibilities of the Secretary and Comptroller General; the composition, responsibilities and actions of the Managing Board and Audit Committee and how they have supported the Secretary and Comptroller General and enabled the objectives of the CFIA; the key risks faced by the CFIA and how it seeks to manage them. The parliamentary accountability and audit report includes a formal opinion by the CFIA's external auditor to certify that the financial statements give a true and fair view of the state of the CFIA's affairs for the year and that they have been prepared in accordance with all relevant rules.

These two sections contribute to the CFIA's accountability to Parliament and comply with best practice in relation to corporate governance norms and codes. In particular, the corporate governance report seeks to do so by describing the key mechanisms the CFIA employs to ensure it maintains high standards of conduct and performance. This includes the statement of Secretary and Comptroller General's responsibilities which describes her accountability to Parliament for the CFIA's use of resources and compliance with rules set by HM Treasury to ensure best practice in financial management. The governance statement reflects the applicable principles of the Corporate Governance Code for Central Government Departments. The parliamentary accountability and audit report confirms that expenditure and income of the CFIA have been applied to the purposes intended by Parliament and confirms that information in the parliamentary accountability disclosures has been audited and approved by external auditors.

Corporate governance report

Directors' report

Operationally, the CRND is part of the DMO and its staff are employees of the DMO. The CRND therefore has no staff of its own. The structure of the CRND is described on page 4.

Directors' conflicts of interest

In 2021-2022, no material conflicts of interest were declared by DMO Managing Board members.

Reporting of personal data related incidents

The CFIA had no protected personal data related incidents during 2021-2022.

Jo Whelan

Secretary and Comptroller General to the Commissioners for the Reduction of the National Debt 5 July 2022

Statement of Secretary and Comptroller General's responsibilities

Section 45(2) of the 1982 Act requires the Commissioners to prepare for each financial year a statement of accounts in the form and on the basis set out in the accounts direction. The accounts are prepared on an accruals basis and must give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the CFIA, its income and expenditure, statement of financial position and cash flows for the financial year.

The Commissioners have appointed the Secretary and Comptroller General to discharge their statutory responsibilities, a role that is analogous to acting as an Accounting Officer. Therefore, the Secretary and Comptroller General has responsibility for preparing the annual accounts.

In preparing the accounts, the Secretary and Comptroller General is required to observe the applicable accounting standards and be consistent with the relevant requirements of the Government Financial Reporting Manual (FReM), and in particular to:

- observe the accounts direction issued by HM Treasury, including the relevant accounting and disclosure requirements, and apply suitable accounting policies on a consistent basis;
- make judgements and estimates on a reasonable basis;
- state whether applicable accounting standards have been followed, and disclose and explain any material departures in the accounts;
- prepare the accounts on a going-concern basis; and
- confirm that the annual report and accounts as a whole are fair, balanced and understandable, and take personal responsibility for the annual report and accounts and the judgements required for determining they are fair, balanced and understandable.

As the role of the Secretary and Comptroller General is analogous to acting as an Accounting Officer, it is considered that the responsibilities of an Accounting Officer, as set out in Managing Public Money published by HM Treasury, apply to the Secretary and Comptroller General. These include responsibility for the propriety and regularity of the public finances for which the Secretary and Comptroller General is answerable, for keeping proper records, and for safeguarding the CFIA's assets.

Disclosure to auditors

Section 45(1) of the Act requires the Commissioners to send accounts prepared by them to the Comptroller and Auditor General.

Under section 45(3) of the Act, the Comptroller and Auditor General examines, certifies and reports on the accounts and lays copies of them with his report before each House of Parliament.

The Comptroller and Auditor General charges no audit fee for undertaking this statutory audit.

As the Secretary and Comptroller General, I have taken all the steps that I ought to have taken to make myself aware of any relevant audit information and to establish that the CFIA's auditors are aware of that information. So far as I am aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the auditors are unaware.

Governance statement

Scope of responsibility

As Secretary and Comptroller General to the Commissioners for the Reduction of the National Debt (CRND), I am responsible for ensuring the operation of a sound system of internal control that supports the achievement of CRND's targets, policies and objectives in managing client investment portfolios whilst safeguarding the public funds for which I am accountable, in accordance with the responsibilities assigned to me.

CRND is a separate business entity managed within the control framework of the DMO. While I am responsible for CRND's system of internal control, the Accounting Officer of the DMO is responsible for the wider control framework within which CRND is managed. In discharging my own control responsibilities, I take assurance on the continued sound maintenance of the wider control framework from the governance statement for the DMO, although I understand that only reasonable and not absolute assurance can be given that risks have been controlled.

It is also my responsibility to ensure that all CRND fund management activities are conducted with due regard to value for money and operated in line with client instructions. I have put arrangements in place to ensure that there is a proper evaluation of the balance of cost and risk in our operations.

CRND is committed to the highest standards of corporate governance and is guided by the Corporate Governance Code for central government departments (the Code) and the following principles laid down in that Code:

- Parliamentary accountability;
- The role of the Board;
- Board composition;
- Board effectiveness; and
- Risk management.

CRND does not conduct any part of its business with or through arm's length bodies (ALBs) and therefore CRND has not applied principle six which covers departmental governance arrangements with ALBs.

Managing Board

In June 2021, HMT published a Tailored Review of the DMO. Tailored Reviews aim to assess, amongst other things, an organisation's form and function, its control and governance arrangements, and its relationship with its sponsoring department and other relevant organisations. Overall the review concluded that the DMO is a highly successful and effective organisation.

The review made a series of recommendations regarding the DMO's governance arrangements. In particular, the review recommended that, in terms of its status, the DMO should be regarded as a 'Model 2' Executive Agency as defined in the Cabinet Office guidance. A Model 2 Executive Agency is one which is deemed by the sponsor department to require a greater level of independence from its home department in order to carry out its functions effectively, or one that is considered by its home department to be of sufficient size and importance to require independent assurance. On this basis, the review recommended that the DMO's governance arrangements should be amended accordingly, including the creation of an Advisory Board to replace the current Managing Board and, as a consequence of this, to introduce a Non-Executive Chair (NEC) to the Board membership. The process to recruit a NEC was undertaken in the second half of the year and successfully completed as announced on 4 May 2022.

The Secretary and Comptroller General was supported during 2021-2022 by the DMO Managing Board (the Board) which, in addition to the Secretary and Comptroller General, is comprised of:

Sir Robert Stheeman

DMO Chief Executive and Accounting Officer

Jim Juffs Chief Operating Officer

Jessica Pulay Co-Head of Policy and Markets

Tom Josephs Non-executive HM Treasury representative

Paul Fisher

Non-executive director - During a 26 year career at the Bank of England, Paul Fisher served as a member of the Monetary Policy Committee from 2009 to 2014, the interim Financial Policy Committee from 2011 to 2013 and the PRA Board from 2015 to 2016. He has a number of current roles including Chair of the London Bullion Market Association.

Paul Richards

Non-executive director - During a 29 year career at Bank of America Merrill Lynch, Paul was MD of business in fixed income trading, Debt Capital Markets and Corporate Banking across Europe, the Americas and Asia Pacific. Following his retirement from banking, he spent 18 months as a senior consultant to the FCA. He is currently Chairman of Insignis, a FinTech company he launched in 2015.

Non-executive directors are appointed by the DMO Accounting Officer following a formal process and have fixed terms defined in their contracts of service. All non-executive Board members receive an induction on joining and have access to additional information and training where it is considered necessary for the effective discharge of their duties.

One of the roles of the Board is to advise the Secretary and Comptroller General on any key decisions affecting CRND.

An executive sub-committee of the Board generally meets weekly and supports the Secretary and Comptroller General on operational decisions.

The Board undertook a self-evaluation of its performance led by a non-executive director in March 2021 and concluded that it has operated effectively in delivering the objectives set out in its Terms of Reference, and that the information used by the Board was accurate and relevant. Between formal reviews the Board considers its effectiveness on an ongoing basis. For 2021-2022, in line with good practice, the Board's effectiveness was reviewed through the Tailored Review. The Terms of Reference last underwent a review by the Board in 2020. The Terms of Reference will be supplanted by a new Terms of Reference for the Advisory Board next year.

2021-2022 Managing Board activities

Board meetings were held throughout 2021-2022 and covered regular agenda items, including risk management, staffing and progress against the operational business plan.

Board and Audit Committee attendance is outlined in the table below:

	Managing Board			
	Possible	Actual		
Sir Robert Stheeman	8	8		
Jo Whelan	8	8		
Jim Juffs	8	8		
Jessica Pulay	8	8	Audit Committee	
Tom Josephs	8	7	Possible	Actual
Paul Fisher	8	8	4	4
Paul Richards	8	8	4	4
Rodney Norman	n/a	n/a	4	4

Audit Committee

The Secretary and Comptroller General was supported during 2021-2022 by the Audit Committee on matters relating to risk, internal control and governance. The Audit Committee covers the activities of the DMO, Debt Management Account (DMA), PWLB lending facility and CRND. The members of the Audit Committee during 2021-2022 were:

Paul Fisher (Chairman)

Paul Richards

Rodney Norman

Audit Committee member - Rodney Norman was Finance Director of NS&I until 2018. Prior to that he was the Treasury Accountant at HM Treasury. This was preceded by a career in the City where he qualified as a Chartered Accountant with PWC and was Finance Director of the Banking Division of Close Brothers. He is currently a non-executive director of the Pension Protection Fund, a non-executive member of the Audit and Risk Committee of the Army and a senior advisor to the Bank of England. Until recently he was a non-executive member of the Office of Rail and Road's Audit and Risk Committee.

Audit Committee meetings are typically attended by the DMO Accounting Officer, the Secretary and Comptroller General, the Co-Heads of Policy & Markets, the Chief Operating Officer, the Head of Internal Audit, the Head of Finance, the Head of Risk, the National Audit Office and this year KPMG.

One of the Audit Committee's objectives is to give advice to the Secretary and Comptroller General on:

- The overall processes for risk, control and governance and the governance statement;
- Management assurances and appropriate actions to follow from internal and external audit findings, risk analysis and reporting undertaken;
- The financial control framework and supporting compliance culture;
- Accounting policies and material judgements, the accounts and the annual report and management's letter of representation to the external auditors;
- Whistleblowing arrangements for confidentially raising and investigating concerns over possible improprieties in the conduct of the DMO's business;
- Processes to protect against money laundering, fraud and corruption; and
- The planned activity and results of both internal and external audits.

During the period under review the Audit Committee paid particular attention to the following areas:

- Hybrid working arrangements;
- Data legislation and governance;
- Recruitment files;
- Governance over project management;
- Key supplier risk programme;
- SWIFT control framework and annual attestation;
- CRND activities;
- Telecom supplier risk programme;
- DMO accommodation and data centres relocation;
- Principal risks and uncertainties; and
- Whistleblowing policy.

The Audit Committee covers a regular programme of agenda items, together with other current topics, and met four times during the year.

The Secretary and Comptroller General has also been informed by the following operational committees throughout the period under review:

Fund Management Review Committee

The Fund Management Review Committee monitors CRND activity relating to the performance of the government funds under management, including any reporting on compliance activities undertaken in relation to the funds.

The Fund Management Review Committee met four times in 2021-2022.

Business Delivery Committee

The Business Delivery Committee reviews the status of the delivery of DMO's business and work plan as a collective cross-functional body, resolving emerging issues in a timely way, and agreeing priorities to ensure the plan stays on track. The most significant initiatives monitored by the Business Delivery Committee during the year were the continuation of remote working arrangements due to COVID-19, and the accommodation relocation project.

The Business Delivery Committee met regularly (typically weekly) throughout 2021-2022.

Risk Committees

The Secretary and Comptroller General is informed by two risk committees covering operational risk and material change programmes. More detail on the roles, responsibilities and activities of these committees can be found in the sections below.

Risk management and internal control

The Secretary and Comptroller General is responsible for maintaining a sound system of internal control that supports the achievement of CRND's targets, policies and objectives in managing client investment portfolios whilst safeguarding the public funds for which she is accountable, in accordance with the responsibilities assigned to her in the Managing Public Money document.

CRND is managed within the wider DMO system of internal control which is based upon what the DMO Accounting Officer, with the support of the Board, considers to be appropriate, taking account of the DMO's activities, the materiality of risks inherent in those activities and the relative costs and benefits of implementing specific controls to mitigate those risks. The DMO's position differs to that of a commercial organisation in that it must always be in a position to transact the underlying business required to meet its remit. As a result, the risks associated with this activity cannot be avoided and the system of internal control can only provide reasonable assurance against failure to achieve aims and objectives.

The Risk and Control Framework

The Board has designed and put in place a formal risk management framework covering all the activities conducted and overseen by the DMO. This framework helps ensure that the DMO Accounting Officer is appropriately informed and advised of any identified risks and also allows the management of risks to be monitored. The risk management framework covers both regular operations and new business initiatives, and evolves as the range and nature of the DMO's activities change. The framework is supported by a clear 'three lines of defence' model:

First line of defence:

Day-to-day management of risk is the responsibility of management staff within business areas. The DMO considers effective risk management to be central to its operations and fosters a risk aware culture in which all members of staff, including Board members, are encouraged to understand and own the risks that are inherent in those operations. In particular, the DMO seeks to promote an environment in which staff feel comfortable to identify new risks and changes in previously identified risks, as well as weaknesses so that these may be assessed and appropriate mitigating actions put in place.

Mitigating actions typically include segregation of duties, staff training, clear lines of management delegation and robust business continuity arrangements.

Second line of defence:

Oversight of risk is provided by the Board and risk committees, whose role is to provide regular and systematic scrutiny of risk issues which lie within their remit and to support the DMO Accounting Officer in exercising his overall responsibility for risk management.

The DMO considers that the principal risks it faces arise in three broad areas: credit risk, market risk and operational risk. It has established committees to meet regularly to review the changing risk pattern for each of these areas and to set up appropriate responses. The work of these committees is described in more detail below.

Credit and Market Risk Committee

The Credit and Market Risk Committee (CMRC) meets on a regular basis, with more frequent meetings held when required, for example during times of market stress. The CMRC monitors and reviews the management of market, credit, and liquidity risk. The CMRC met nine times during 2021-2022.

Operational Risk Committee

The Operational Risk Committee (ORC) meets regularly to monitor operational risks and to review significant risk issues. The ORC is responsible for reviewing risk incidents identified through the DMO's risk incident reporting process, and for considering whether planned mitigating actions are appropriate. The ORC also reviews and tracks the progress of actions identified by Internal Audit. The ORC's scope includes issues relating to information risk, IT security, business continuity, anti-fraud and key supplier risks.

The ORC has advised the DMO Accounting Officer and the Board, during the year, on significant operational risk concerns, significant risk issues and trends as well as actions to mitigate such risks. The ORC has focused this year on IT and cyber security, hybrid working arrangements, attestation of policies, business continuity planning and key supplier risks. The ORC met six times during 2021-2022.

Controls Group

The Controls Group meets periodically to review issues affecting the DMO's system of internal control and to analyse material changes to the control environment. The Controls Group recommends actions to management to implement changes where appropriate. The Controls Group consists of representatives from Finance, Risk, Compliance and Internal Audit.

The Controls Group has advised the DMO Accounting Officer, the Board and senior management on any significant risk concerns stemming from the introduction of new business activities as well as risks relating to other change management activities. The Controls Group has also advised the DMO Accounting Officer on suitable mitigating actions where appropriate.

During the year the Controls Group continued to review the controls in place for increased remote working arrangements. In addition, the Controls Group covered the risk assessment and risk mitigation plan for more staff returning to the office when the impact of COVID-19 subsided. Other topics reviewed included key reconciliation documentation and digital signature solutions.

Risk Management Unit

The risk committees are supported by the DMO's Risk Management Unit (RMU) which ensures key risk issues arising from these committees are communicated to the DMO Accounting Officer and senior management on a regular basis, with additional ad-hoc reporting if an emerging issue requires it. The RMU also supports the formal risk reporting processes with defined outputs, including regular detailed risk reports which are reviewed by the Board and senior management.

As well as supporting the risk committee structure, the RMU provides control advice on risks. As part of the second line of defence the RMU is separate from, and independent of, the DMO's trading operations. The RMU conducts risk analysis and provides market, credit and operational risk capability for the DMO.

The identification, monitoring and mitigation of operational risk is facilitated by the RMU via quarterly consultations with heads of business units and functional teams. Significant risk issues are assessed for materiality and probability of occurrence. New risks, and risks to which exposure is increasing, are highlighted and actions are taken to ensure effective management of all risks. The DMO has Senior Risk Owners (SROs) who undertake a cross-functional moderation process to promote better prioritisation of operational risks across the organisation. The RMU maintains a central exception log to record all risk incidents raised, in order to identify control weaknesses and assign actions to improve controls.

Third line of defence:

The DMO's Internal Audit function provides the DMO Accounting Officer with independent and objective assurance on the overall effectiveness of the Agency's system of internal control. It does this through a risk based work programme which is presented to the Audit Committee at the start of each year and approved by the Audit Committee at the start of each quarter. All audits make a series of findings relating to control weaknesses. Progress against agreed management actions is monitored on a regular basis to ensure issues highlighted by internal and external audit, and other identified actions to improve the control environment, are managed and progressed within agreed deadlines. The function is independent of the DMO's trading activities and operations and has a direct reporting line to the DMO Accounting Officer. The work of Internal Audit includes assessing the effectiveness of both control design and control performance. With its independence and overall remit, Internal Audit provides a third line of defence against the risks that might prevent the DMO delivering its objectives.

Risk policies and procedures

The DMO's risk policies reflect the high standards and robust requirements which determine the way risks are managed and controlled. The DMO Accounting Officer, with the support of the Board, ensures that policies are regularly reviewed to reflect any changes in the DMO's operations and/or best practice. In 2021-2022, this included policies relating to health and safety, procurement, physical security, IT acceptable use, IT security, and remote working.

Staff are required to confirm that they have read and accepted the DMO's rules on personal dealing and the DMO's policy on the use of information systems and technology, and that they are aware of, and will continue to keep up to date with, the DMO's policies on whistleblowing, anti-fraud, anti-money laundering and information security. The DMO ensures that this exercise is undertaken on an annual basis allowing staff to maintain a good level of awareness of the DMO's policies in these areas. All members of staff have job descriptions which include reference to the specific key risks they are expected to manage.

Managers in each business function are responsible for ensuring that the operations within their area are compliant with plans, policies, procedures and legislation.

During 2021-2022 no concerns were raised by staff under the DMO's whistleblowing policy relating to CRND.

Key Developments

COVID-19

The DMO has continued to actively review and refine its contingency arrangements to minimise the impact of COVID-19 as the situation developed. A robust assurance framework has been implemented to ensure the maintenance of control standards for critical operations in an environment where the majority of staff had been working remotely.

The risk assessment and risk mitigation plans were reviewed regularly to ensure the office premises remained COVID-19 secure and compliant with guidelines. A continuation in working arrangements whereby the majority of staff were working from home is a principal risk under the Risk Profile section.

Ukrainian conflict

Further to the Russian invasion of Ukraine, the DMO closely monitored actual and potential effects on activities, markets, counterparties and suppliers.

The DMO continued to work with partners across government to ensure all necessary steps were taken to maintain cyber security defences and also assurances were received from some strategic partners regarding their own arrangements, with details of the assurances put in place to mitigate against any disruption or impact. Internal assessments considered potential accounting or disclosure impacts and any effects through legal and regularity changes.

Risk profile

The Secretary and Comptroller General and the DMO Board believe that the principal risks and uncertainties facing CRND are outlined in the table below together with the key actions taken to manage and mitigate them:

Principal risks and uncertainties Mitigation and management IT systems and infrastructure CRND relies on a number of IT and communications During the year the DMO has progressed initiatives to further systems to conduct its operations effectively and strengthen the resilience and security of its IT network. The Public Service Network (PSN) accreditation was reconfirmed efficiently. following an IT health check. The DMO has in place structured business continuity arrangements to ensure it is able to continue market operations in the event of an internal or external incident that threatens business operations. Arrangements to support CRND activities were in place throughout the year with the majority of staff working from home. During the year, the most significant initiative was the migration of infrastructure from a DMO hosted and managed service to a cloud service, in line with the approach taken by other government departments. In addition, there was a review of the backup strategy of DMO's data for flexibility in a data recovery situation and improved resilience. All data centres are physically separate from the main office location which increases resilience.

IT and data security

The DMO could be the subject of an external attack on its IT systems and infrastructure. Through its activities the DMO gathers, disseminates and maintains sensitive information including market sensitive information and personal data about staff and market participants. The DMO seeks to ensure the highest standards of data protection and information management.

The DMO, including CRND, continues to work to maintain the required level of protective security covering physical, personnel and information security and is particularly aware of the growing threat posed by cyber security risk. IT and data security risks continued to be a specific area of focus in 2021-2022 and the DMO's IT team have been enhancing the security environment and appropriateness of transaction systems and processes. The focus was in identifying and mitigating any changes to IT and data security risks as a result of continuous remote working.

Risks to data and information held by the DMO are owned and managed by designated Information Asset Owners. The DMO has a Senior Information Risk Owner (SIRO) who is responsible for the information risk policy and the assessment of information risks. The SIRO is a member of the Board and provides advice to Board members on the management of information risks.

The DMO has put in place several layers to defend against external and internal attacks. During 2021-22 penetration testing and independent assessments of critical systems were carried out by a third party and identified the overall security posture was of a good standard. Lower rated enhancements were implemented to further improve the overall security posture of the environment.

The DMO has demonstrated compliance with Government security standards through security health-check assessments.

Reliance on third parties

A number of the operational systems and services on which CRND relies are provided or supported by third party suppliers. To mitigate the risk of failure of a key third party supplier the DMO undertakes regular corporate risk assessments of each key supplier to assess a range of factors including its financial strength and operational capacity, including the reliance on sub-contractors. The DMO has dedicated contract owners who meet regularly with key suppliers and monitor performance against the agreed Service Level Agreements, where appropriate. The procurement manager and the vendor management group have been working to embed consistent standards of supplier management across account managers by improving visibility of key contracts and sharing best practice. The DMO has introduced enhanced monitoring for critical suppliers (i.e. strategic partners) that focuses on risk and strategic aspects. Scrutinised areas include inherent risks, scenario analysis, assessment of supply chain risks including fourth parties, monitoring and assessing residual risks, and mitigation planning. External consultancy work assisted with the approach.

During the year, monitoring continued for any potential supply chain challenges from COVID-19, including the economic impact to suppliers' business and industry.

Transaction processing

CRND relies on its operational processes to successfully execute a significant number of high value transactions on a daily basis. Reliance on the accurate execution of processes exposes CRND to operational risk arising from process breakdowns and human error.

A key component of CRND's control framework is the segregation of duties to ensure independent checking and reconciliation, and to avoid concentration of key activities or related controls in individuals or small groups of staff. In particular, segregation of duties takes place between front and back office activities.

All teams, including CRND, have documented procedures for their main activities and there are clearly defined authorisation levels for committing the DMO externally.

The RMU conduct regular control and compliance testing of CRND activities, providing the executive sub-committee of the Board with assurance on the effectiveness of operational controls and compliance with relevant Financial Conduct Authority and Prudential Regulation Authority rules in the dealing and settlement areas.

The DMO also maintains a strong audit and control environment which includes a well embedded incident reporting procedure which extends to cover CRND. This promotes the early identification and resolution of risk incidents and provides visibility to the DMO Accounting Officer and Board.

The continued focus has been on enhanced compliance monitoring over transaction processing, to provide assurance over controls standards during remote working.

This year saw the first upgrade of the core trading system since implementation. A robust control framework was adhered to for testing and release management. When critical third party suppliers encountered system issues, contingency processes worked successfully.

During the year controlled contingency processes were successfully invoked to overcome short-term disruption to our standard settlement processes at external organisations.

Hybrid working

In light of COVID-19, a change in working arrangements could lead to increased operational risks due to the majority of staff working from home.

During the previous year, remote working controls were put in place when hybrid working was urgently implemented in light of COVID-19. Controls continued to be adapted as new working practices evolved to ensure overall control standards were maintained. The robust control framework was reviewed by Internal Audit. The majority of meetings continued to be conducted via secure conference and video calls to ensure governance and communication was maintained. Strategic planning continued for hybrid working to develop a long-term view of working practices and associated controls.

An independent external review confirmed the existing control framework as robust.

People risk

The DMO, including CRND, relies on maintaining a sufficiently skilled workforce at all levels of the organisation in order to operate effectively and efficiently, ensuring delivery of its strategic objectives.

The DMO is exposed to an increased risk of operational failure if it is unable to compete for, and retain, sufficiently skilled staff over time. Competition for skilled staff is generally against employers from the private financial services sector who have historically offered higher remuneration packages that are not subject to public sector remuneration policies.

DMO recruitment policies help ensure that individuals with the appropriate level of skill and experience are appointed at all levels within the organisation. This helps mitigate the level of human error which could result in process failures.

The DMO's Training and Development policy is designed to help ensure that staff have the right skills to meet its objectives.

The DMO follows the Civil Service Commission's recruitment principles and selection process to ensure vacancies are filled on merit on the basis of fair and open competition.

The DMO has a formal performance appraisal process and all staff are given clear and achievable objectives. Staff are encouraged to engage in activities which promote development and the DMO provides regular training opportunities and support for professional studies to enhance the skills base of its employees. The DMO also provides cross-training for different roles to help improve staffing flexibility and reduce turnover pressure.

Salaries are benchmarked annually to equivalent private sector pay levels in order to keep management aware of any significant disparities that are developing. During the year, particular consideration has been given to the issues faced by staff working increased hours due to increased market operations and additional I.T support needed as part of the continuation with remote working. Challenges with recruitment and retention were identified this year and were reviewed by the Managing Board. The DMO has a policy to recognise those staff who have performed well in their roles through the payment of one-off non-consolidated performance related awards. Any awards are assessed annually by the DMO Performance Review Team. They are determined by individual performance and criteria associated with the DMO's performance management process, which are also aligned to the policy for public sector pay.

A Staff Council has met regularly throughout the year and enabled an open exchange of ideas and views between management and staff representatives. This has been an effective conduit for wider communication and consultation with all staff.

On an annual basis all DMO staff are given the opportunity to take part in the Civil Service People survey. Any issues raised via this route, with suggested mitigating action if required, are considered by the DMO Accounting Officer and the Board.

The DMO is a disability confident employer.

Review of effectiveness

I have reviewed the effectiveness of the system of internal control and confirm that an ongoing process designed to identify, evaluate and prioritise risks to the achievement of CRND's aims and objectives has been in place throughout 2021-2022. This review included an assessment of any material risk and control issues identified and reported during the relevant period.

My review has been informed by the advice of the risk committees, the work of the internal auditors and the executive managers within the DMO, who have been delegated responsibility for the development and maintenance of the internal control framework. Comments made by the external auditors in their management letter and other relevant reports have also informed this review.

In my role as Secretary and Comptroller General I have been advised on the implications of the result of my review, of the effectiveness of the system of internal control by the Board and the Audit Committee.

In 2021-2022, no ministerial directions were given and no material conflicts of interest have been noted by the Board or Audit Committee members in the Register of Interests.

In my opinion, CRND's system of internal control was effective throughout the financial year and remains so on the date I sign this statement.

Jo Whelan

Secretary and Comptroller General to the Commissioners for the Reduction of the National Debt 5 July 2022

Parliamentary accountability and audit report

Regularity of expenditure

The investments, income and expenditure of the CFIA were applied to the purposes intended by Parliament.

The above statement has been audited.

Fees and charges

The CFIA received no fees or charges during the year.

The above statement has been audited.

Jo Whelan

Secretary and Comptroller General to the Commissioners for the Reduction of the National Debt 5 July 2022

The Certificate and Report of the Comptroller and Auditor General to the Houses of Parliament

Opinion on financial statements

I certify that I have audited the financial statements of the Court Funds Investment Account for the year ended 28 February 2022 under the Administration of Justice Act 1982.

The financial statements comprise the Court Funds Investment Account's:

- Statement of financial position as at 28 February 2022;
- Statement of comprehensive income, Statement of cash flows and Statement of changes in client funds for the year then ended; and
- the related notes including the significant accounting policies.

The financial reporting framework that has been applied in the preparation of the financial statements is applicable law and UK adopted International Accounting Standards.

In my opinion, the financial statements:

- give a true and fair view of the state of the Court Funds Investment Account's affairs as at 28 February 2022 and its surplus for the year then ended; and
- have been properly prepared in accordance with the Administration of Justice Act 1982 and HM Treasury directions issued thereunder.

Opinion on regularity

In my opinion, in all material respects, the income and expenditure recorded in the financial statements have been applied to the purposes intended by Parliament and the financial transactions recorded in the financial statements conform to the authorities which govern them.

Basis for opinions

I conducted my audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (ISAs UK), applicable law and Practice Note 10 Audit of Financial Statements of Public Sector Entities in the United Kingdom. My responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor's responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements section of my certificate.

Those standards require me and my staff to comply with the Financial Reporting Council's Revised Ethical Standard 2019. I have also elected to apply the ethical standards relevant to listed entities. I am independent of the Court Funds Investment Account in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to my audit of the financial statements in the UK. My staff and I have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements.

I believe that the audit evidence I have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my opinion.

Conclusions relating to going concern

In auditing the financial statements, I have concluded that the Court Funds Investment Account's use of the going concern basis of accounting in the preparation of the financial statements is appropriate.

Based on the work I have performed, I have not identified any material uncertainties relating to events or conditions that, individually or collectively, may cast significant doubt on the Court Funds Investment Account's ability to continue as a going concern for a period of at least twelve months from when the financial statements are authorised for issue.

My responsibilities and the responsibilities of the Commissioners and the Secretary and Comptroller General with respect to going concern are described in the relevant sections of this certificate.

The going concern basis of accounting for the Court Funds Investment Account is adopted in consideration of the requirements set out in HM Treasury's Government Financial Reporting Manual, which require entities to adopt the going concern basis of accounting in the preparation of the financial statements where it is anticipated that the services which they provide will continue into the future.

Other Information

The other information comprises information included in the Annual Report, but does not include the financial statements nor my auditor's certificate. The Commissioners and the Secretary and Comptroller General are responsible for the other information.

My opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and, except to the extent otherwise explicitly stated in my certificate, I do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with my audit of the financial statements, my responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or my knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If I identify such material inconsistencies or apparent material misstatements, I am required to determine whether this gives rise to a material misstatement in the financial statements themselves. If, based on the work I have performed, I conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, I am required to report that fact.

I have nothing to report in this regard.

Opinion on other matters

In my opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit:

- the parts of the Accountability Report subject to audit have been properly prepared in accordance with HM Treasury directions made under the Administration of Justice Act 1982; and
- the information given in the Performance and Accountability Reports for the financial year for which the financial statements are prepared is consistent with the financial statements and is in accordance with the applicable legal requirements.

Matters on which I report by exception

In the light of the knowledge and understanding of the Court Funds Investment Account and its environment obtained in the course of the audit, I have not identified material misstatements in the Performance and Accountability Reports.

I have nothing to report in respect of the following matters which I report to you if, in my opinion:

- I have not received all of the information and explanations I require for my audit; or
- adequate accounting records have not been kept by the Court Funds Investment Account or returns adequate for my audit have not been received from branches not visited by my staff; or

- the financial statements and the parts of the Accountability Report subject to audit are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns; or
- the Governance Statement does not reflect compliance with HM Treasury's guidance.

Responsibilities of the Commissioners and the Secretary and Comptroller General for the financial statements

As explained more fully in the Statement of Secretary and Comptroller General's responsibilities, the Commissioners and the Secretary and Comptroller General are responsible for:

- maintaining proper accounting records;
- the preparation of the financial statements and Annual Report in accordance with the applicable financial reporting framework and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view;
- ensuring that the Annual Report and accounts as a whole is fair, balanced and understandable;
- internal controls as the Commissioners and the Secretary and Comptroller General determine are necessary to enable the preparation of the financial statements to be free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; and
- assessing the Court Funds Investment Account's ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the Commissioners and the Secretary and Comptroller General anticipates that the services provided by the Court Funds Investment Account will not continue to be provided in the future.

Auditor's responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

My responsibility is to audit, certify and report on the financial statements in accordance with the Administration of Justice Act 1982.

My objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue a certificate that includes my opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs (UK) will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

Extent to which the audit was considered capable of detecting non-compliance with laws and regulations including fraud

I design procedures in line with my responsibilities, outlined above, to detect material misstatements in respect of non-compliance with laws and regulations, including fraud. The extent to which my procedures are capable of detecting non-compliance with laws and regulations, including fraud is detailed below.

Identifying and assessing potential risks related to non-compliance with laws and regulations, including fraud

In identifying and assessing risks of material misstatement in respect of non-compliance with laws and regulations, including fraud, we considered the following:

the nature of the sector, control environment and operational performance including the design of the Court Funds Investment Account's accounting policies:

- inquiring of management, Court Funds Investment Account's head of internal audit and those charged with governance, including obtaining and reviewing supporting documentation relating to the Court Funds Investment Account's policies and procedures relating to:
 - identifying, evaluating and complying with laws and regulations and whether they were aware of any instances of non-compliance;
 - detecting and responding to the risks of fraud and whether they have knowledge of any actual, suspected or alleged fraud; and
 - the internal controls established to mitigate risks related to fraud or non-compliance with laws and regulations including the Court Funds Investment Account's controls relating to the Court Funds Investment Account's compliance with the Administration of Justice Act 1982 and Managing Public Money.
- discussing among the engagement team regarding how and where fraud might occur in the financial statements and any potential indicators of fraud.

As a result of these procedures, I considered the opportunities and incentives that may exist within the Court Funds Investment Account for fraud and identified the greatest potential for fraud in the following areas: revenue recognition and the posting of unusual journals. In common with all audits under ISAs (UK), I am also required to perform specific procedures to respond to the risk of management override of controls.

I also obtained an understanding of the Court Funds Investment Account's framework of authority as well as other legal and regulatory frameworks in which the Court Funds Investment Account operates, focusing on those laws and regulations that had a direct effect on material amounts and disclosures in the financial statements or that had a fundamental effect on the operations of the Court Funds Investment Account. The key laws and regulations I considered in this context included the Administration of Justice Act 1982 and Managing Public Money.

Audit response to identified risk

As a result of performing the above, the procedures I implemented to respond to identified risks included the following:

- reviewing the financial statement disclosures and testing to supporting documentation to assess compliance with provisions of relevant laws and regulations described above as having a direct effect on the financial statements:
- enquiring of management, the Audit Committee and legal counsel concerning actual and potential litigation and claims;
- reading and reviewing minutes of meetings of those charged with governance and the Board and internal audit reports; and
- in addressing the risk of fraud through management override of controls, testing the appropriateness of journal entries and other adjustments and evaluating the business rationale of any significant transactions that are unusual or outside the normal course of business.

I also communicated relevant identified laws and regulations and potential fraud risks to all engagement team members and remained alert to any indications of fraud or non-compliance with laws and regulations throughout the audit.

A further description of my responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located on the Financial Reporting Council's website at: www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description forms part of my certificate.

Other auditor's responsibilities

I am required to obtain evidence sufficient to give reasonable assurance that the income and expenditure reported in the financial statements have been applied to the purposes intended by Parliament and the financial transactions conform to the authorities which govern them.

I communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that I identify during my audit.

Report

I have no observations to make on these financial statements.

Gareth Davies Comptroller and Auditor General

National Audit Office 157-197 Buckingham Palace Road Victoria London SW1W 9SP

11 July 2022

Court Funds Investment Account Statement of comprehensive income

For the year ended 28 February 2022

	Notes	2022 £000	2021 £000
Interest income		3,738	2,943
Total income		3,738	2,943
CRND management expenses OAG costs of administering funds in court Interest payable on funds in court Surplus payable to the Consolidated Fund	2	(94) (1,342) (1,555)	(94) (1,307) (2,754)
Surplus/(deficit) for the year		747	(1,212)

The notes on pages 62 to 64 form part of these accounts.

Court Funds Investment Account Statement of financial position

As at 28 February 2022

	Notes	2022 £000	2021 £000
Assets Demand deposits with the Debt Management Account		2,543,199	2,392,857
Total assets		2,543,199	2,392,857
Liabilities and client funds			
Liabilities OAG costs of administering funds in court		1,342	1,307
HMT funds Surplus payable to the Consolidated Fund	2	-	7,895
Client funds OAG funds Reserves*		2,541,000 857	2,383,545 110
		2,541,857	2,383,655
Total liabilities and client funds		2,543,199	2,392,857

^{*}These reserves are payable to the OAG and arise due to annual surpluses as calculated in the Statement of Comprehensive Income.

The notes on pages 62 to 64 form part of these accounts.

Jo Whelan

Secretary and Comptroller General to the Commissioners for the Reduction of the National Debt 5 July 2022

Court Funds Investment Account Statement of cash flows

For the year ended 28 February 2022

	2022 £000	2021 £000
Operating activities		
Interest received on demand deposits with the Debt Management Account	2,991	4,155
(Increase)/decrease in demand deposits with the Debt Management Account	(149,595)	(54,747)
CRND management expenses	(94)	(94)
OAG costs of administering funds in court	(1,307)	(5,614)
Surplus paid to the Consolidated Fund 2	(7,895)	
Net cash used in operating activities	(155,900)	(56,300)
Financing activities		
Funds received from the OAG	550,600	376,100
Funds paid to the OAG	(394,700)	(319,800)
Net cash from financing activities	155,900	56,300
Increase in cash		
Cash at the beginning of the year		-
Cash at the end of the year	<u>-</u>	

The notes on pages 62 to 64 form part of these accounts.

Court Funds Investment Account Statement of changes in client funds

For the year ended 28 February 2022

	OAG funds (excluding reserves) £000	Reserves £000	Total client funds £000
At 29 February 2020	2,324,491	1,322	2,325,813
Deficit for the year	-	(1,212)	(1,212)
Interest payable on funds in court	2,754	-	2,754
Funds received from the OAG	376,100	-	376,100
Funds paid to the OAG	(319,800)	-	(319,800)
At 28 February 2021	2,383,545	110	2,383,655
Surplus for the year	-	747	747
Interest payable on funds in court	1,555	-	1,555
Funds received from the OAG	550,600	-	550,600
Funds paid to the OAG	(394,700)	-	(394,700)
At 28 February 2022	2,541,000	857	2,541,857

The notes on pages 62 to 64 form part of these accounts.

Notes to the accounts for the year ended 28 February 2022

1 Accounting policies

(i) Basis of preparation

These accounts have been prepared in accordance with a direction made by HM Treasury under section 45(2) of the Administration of Justice Act 1982 in accordance with applicable International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) and relevant requirements of the Government Financial Reporting Manual; and under the historical cost convention and on a going concern basis. In particular, the following standards have been applied:

- IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures
- IFRS 9 Financial Instruments
- IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement
- IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements (revised 2007)
- IAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows
- IAS 8 Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors
- IAS 10 Events After the Reporting Period
- IAS 24 Related Party Disclosures
- IAS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation
- IAS 36 Impairment of Assets
- IAS 37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets

Certain IFRS have been issued or revised, but are not yet effective. Those issues or revisions expected to be relevant in subsequent reporting periods are:

- IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements, which has been revised as part of the IASB's 'Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-Current (Amendments to IAS 1)'. Application is required for reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023. The CFIA expects to apply these revisions to IAS 1 in 2023-2024. The application of these revisions, which affect only the presentation of liabilities in the statement of financial position and relate to a clarification of the classification of current and non-current liabilities, are not expected to materially alter the presentation of the financial statements of the CFIA.
- IFRS 9 Financial Instruments, which has been revised as part of the IASB's 'Annual improvements to IFRS Standards 2018-2020 (fees in the '10 per cent' test for derecognition of financial liabilities)'. Application is required for reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022. The CFIA expects to apply these revisions to IFRS 9 in 2022-2023. The application of these revisions, which clarify which fees an entity includes when it applies the '10 per cent' test of IFRS 9 in assessing whether to derecognise a financial liability, are not expected to materially alter the presentation of the financial statements of the CFIA.
- IAS 37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets, which has been revised as part of the IASB's 'Onerous Contracts Cost of Fulfilling a Contract' (Amendments to IAS 37)'. Application is required for reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022. The CFIA expects to apply these revisions to IAS 37 in 2022-2023. The application of these revisions, which deal with which costs a company should include when assessing whether a contract will be loss-making are not expected to materially alter the presentation of the financial statements of the CFIA.

A separate income statement, as required by the accounts direction, has not been presented as the content would be identical to the statement of comprehensive income. A statement of comprehensive income is required by IAS 1.

(ii) Assets

Demand deposits

Deposits with the Debt Management Account are financial assets held by the CFIA in order to collect contractual cash flows of principal and interest on specified dates. Therefore, these deposits are treated as financial assets measured at amortised cost.

(iii) Income recognition

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest rate method. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts or payments through the expected life of the financial instrument or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying amount of the instrument.

2 Surplus payable to the Consolidated Fund

The surplus payable to the Consolidated Fund at the end of each year is calculated in the following way, as defined by Section 39(2) of the Administration of Justice Act 1982:

		2022 £000		2021 £000
Interest received Interest payable on funds in court Costs of administering funds in court		2,991 (1,555)		4,155 (2,754)
OAG costs CRND management expenses	(1,342) (94)		(1,307) (94)	
		(1,436)	-	(1,401)
Surplus payable to the Consolidated Fund for the year Surplus payable to the Consolidated Fund from prior years		-	-	7,895
Total surplus payable to the Consolidated Fund		-	=	7,895

3 Risk

(i) Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk that a counterparty, or security issuer, will fail to discharge a contractual obligation resulting in financial loss to the CFIA.

The investments of the CFIA comprised deposits with the Debt Management Account. These deposits were considered to have no exposure to credit risk because they are obligations of HM Government.

There were no renegotiated assets or assets considered impaired at 28 February 2022 (28 February 2021: no renegotiated or impaired assets).

(ii) Market risk

Market risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market prices. Market risk for the CFIA was considered to comprise interest rate risk.

The interest returns on deposits were closely linked to the official Bank Rate.

CRND monitored interest rate movements to help inform the OAG of potential issues and events. The CFIA was not subject to active management and thus no formal market risk parameters were in place.

(iii) Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the CFIA will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations associated with client withdrawal requests.

Assets held by the CFIA were highly liquid to enable all client obligations to be met as they fell due.

4 Related party transactions

CRND is a separate entity within the DMO. CRND client mandates are kept distinct from other DMO business.

During the year, the CFIA had a significant number of material transactions with the Debt Management Account, which is operated by the DMO. CRND's client mandates required the bulk of the funds to be invested in gilts or deposited with the Debt Management Account. The amount held by the Debt Management Account is shown in the statement of financial position, and the interest received and movement in amounts deposited are shown in the statement of cash flows.

During the year, the CFIA had a significant number of material transactions with the OAG due to the CFIA facilitating the operation of the basic and special accounts operated by the OAG for suitors' funds paid into court in England and Wales. During the year, the OAG advanced £155.9 million (net of withdrawals) to the CFIA (2020-2021: £56.3 million net advance).

5 Events after the reporting date

In accordance with the requirements of IAS 10, events after the reporting period are considered up to the date on which the Secretary and Comptroller General authorises the accounts for issue. This is interpreted as the date of the Certificate and Report of the Comptroller and Auditor General (page 53).

ACCOUNTS DIRECTION GIVEN BY THE TREASURY IN ACCORDANCE WITH SECTION 45 (2) OF THE ADMINISTRATION OF JUSTICE ACT 1982

- 1. This direction applies to the Funds in Court in England and Wales Investment Account.
- 2. The Commissioners for the Reduction of the National Debt shall prepare accounts for the financial year ended 28 February 2012 (29 February in a leap year) and subsequent financial years which give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Account at the reporting date, and of its income and cash flows for the year then ended.
- 3. The accounts shall be prepared in accordance with applicable accounting standards, and shall be consistent with relevant requirements of the extant Government Financial Reporting Manual.
- 4. The accounts shall present an income statement, a statement of comprehensive income, a statement of financial position, a statement of cash flows, and a statement of changes in client funds. The statement of financial position shall present assets and liabilities in order of liquidity.
- 5. The notes to the accounts shall include disclosure of assets and liabilities, and of income and expenditure, relating to other central government funds including the National Loans Fund.
- 6. The report shall include:
 - a brief history of the Account, and its statutory background;
 - an outline of the scope of the Account, its relationship to HM Treasury and other central funds, and its management arrangements;
 - a management commentary, including information on financial performance and financial position, which reflects the relationship between the Account and other central funds; and
 - a governance statement.
- 7. This accounts direction shall be reproduced as an appendix to the accounts

This accounts direction supersedes all previous Directions issued by HM Treasury.

Chris Wobschall

Deputy Director, Assurance and Financial Reporting Policy Her Majesty's Treasury 23 March 2012

Ministry of Justice Equity Index Tracker Fund

Managed by Legal & General (Unit Trust Managers) Limited Authorised and regulated by the Financial Conduct Authority Authorised Fund Manager's Annual Report for the year ended 28 February 2022

Foreword

These accounts are presented under Section 45 of the Administration of Justice Act 1982 (the Act).

1. The Ministry of Justice Equity Index Tracker Fund

The Ministry of Justice Equity Index Tracker Fund was established on 1 September 2003. Within the Common Investment Fund, it replaced the previous Capital and High Yield Funds (which had merged on 10 April 2003).

2. What is the Common Investment Fund?

The Fund is only available for investment of money belonging to Clients or former Clients of the Ministry of Justice (MoJ), individually or under a trustee arrangement, or under the control of certain Courts in England and Wales. It operates in a similar way to a unit trust where investors can buy units in a Fund. New investment monies are added to those already invested in the Fund and the Authorised Fund Manager uses it to a buy a mixture of Index tracking unit trusts. Depending on how the Fund performs, the value of units changes and so does the income paid out to the investors each year. Units can be sold back to the Fund and the investor will receive the value of the units at that time.

3. What does this report cover?

This report covers the performance of the Fund for the year ended 28 February 2022, together with some information for investors and their advisers.

4. What is the legal basis for the Fund?

The Fund is a Common Investment Fund and was created under the Act which authorises the Lord Chancellor to make Common Investment Schemes for the purposes of investing funds held in Court and money held by any other person authorised to hold units in the Fund. The current scheme is governed by the Common Investment Scheme 2004 (SI 2004 No. 266).

On 1 March 2004, the right to own units in the Fund was extended to the Official Solicitor, the Public Trustee and Clients of the Office of the Public Guardian (OPG)/Court of Protection wishing to hold units out of Court. In addition, certain former Clients of the OPG/Court of Protection, the Office of the Accountant General (OAG) and The Official Solicitor and the Public Trustee (OSPT) were authorised to retain units in the Fund on termination of their connection with those offices. These changes came into effect as a result of authorisation by the Lord Chancellor pursuant to Section 42(5)(b) of the Act.

5. Why invest in the Fund?

The Ministry of Justice Equity Index Tracker Fund is a simple and cost-effective means of investing in the stock market over the medium to long term. Legal & General manages the Fund's assets on an Index tracking basis aiming to match the returns of the major stock markets. 55% of the Fund has exposure to UK shares with the remainder invested in other global markets. Index trackers invest in a representative sample of all of the companies that make up the Index that they are tracking, instead of the Authorised Fund Manager actively choosing which stocks to hold in the Fund. The intention is simply to deliver the return of the Index being tracked.

6. What are the Lord Chancellor and the Accountant General's Responsibilities?

I. The Lord Chancellor's Responsibilities

Under Section 42(1) of the Act, the Lord Chancellor may make schemes ('Common Investment Schemes') establishing Common Investment Funds for the purpose of investing funds in Court and other monies defined under Section 42(5)(b) of the Act.

Under Section 42(2) of the Act, the Common Investment Schemes made by the Lord Chancellor shall provide for an Investment Manager to be appointed by the Lord Chancellor to manage and control the Common Investment Funds established.

The contractual relationship between Legal and General and the Lord Chancellor is set out in the Deed of Appointment. The previous deed expired on 17 February 2022. The Lord Chancellor extended the deed to run to 16 February 2024.

Under Section 42(5), units in the Common Investment Scheme shall be allotted to and held by the Accountant General and the Accountant General of the Supreme Court of Judicature of Northern Ireland and any other person authorised by the Lord Chancellor. In this context, since the inception of this Common Investment Scheme, the list of authorised investors to whom units in the Common Investment Fund may be allotted and held by, has been extended to include other investors from the following:

- i. the Public Trustee either in his sole name or jointly with any person or persons with whom he acts as trustee or personal representative;
- ii. the Official Solicitor either in his sole name or jointly with any person or persons with whom he acts as trustee or personal representative;
- iii. any trustee or trustees, if more than one, of a trust from which the Public Trustee or Official Solicitor has retired as trustee, in relation to any units held in the trust immediately prior to such retirement;
- iv. any beneficiary of a trust or estate in respect of which the Public Trustee or Official Solicitor acts solely or jointly with any other person or persons as trustee or personal representative, in relation to any units held in the trust or estate to which the beneficiary has become absolutely entitled;
- v. any beneficiary of a trust from which the Public Trustee or Official Solicitor has retired as trustee, in relation to any units held in the trust to which the beneficiary has become absolutely entitled;
- vi. any person who lacks capacity whose property and affairs are managed by the Court of Protection and whose funds are not held in Court in the name of the Accountant General;
- vii. any person who is restored to the management of his property and affairs by order of the Court of Protection, in relation to any units held by him or by the Accountant General on his behalf immediately prior to the making of such an order;
- viii. any person entitled by a direction of the Court to withdraw Funds retained in Court under Part 21.11 of the Civil Procedure Rules 1998 on the ground that he is no longer incapable of managing and administering his own affairs, in relation to any units held on his behalf by the Accountant General immediately prior to the making of such a direction;
- ix. any person who has attained majority and on whose behalf units were held by the Accountant General during his minority, in relation to any units held on his behalf by the Accountant General upon the attainment of his majority;
- any person entitled to withdraw Funds from Court by application under Section 5(2) of the Law Reform (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1971, in relation to any units held by the Accountant General on his behalf immediately prior to the making of such an application;
- xi. the Investment Manager of the Fund on his own account in the ordinary course of fund management, subject to the terms of his appointment;

xii. any person acting in his capacity as nominee for any person included in (i) to (viii) above.

The total value of 'other' investors is shown in note 17.

II. Appointment of the Accountant General

The Secretary of State and Lord Chancellor has, under Section 97(2) of the Senior Courts Act 1981, as amended by the Public Trustee and Administration of Funds Act 1986, appointed James McEwen as Accountant General on 29 August 2020.

The Permanent Secretary of the Ministry of Justice has also appointed the Accountant General as the Accounting Officer for Funds in Court.

His relevant responsibilities as Accounting Officer, including responsibilities for the propriety and regularity of the funds for which he is answerable and for the keeping of proper records, are set out in the Accounting Officer's Memorandum issued by the Treasury and published in 'Managing Public Money'.

III. Management and Investment of Funds in Court

As set out in Section 38 of the Act, the Accountant General of the Senior Courts is responsible for the management and investment of the Funds in Court. Under Section 43 of the same Act, the Lord Chancellor is empowered to make any decisions relating to defaults with respect to any money, securities and effects for which he is responsible.

The operation of the investment fund itself is the responsibility of Legal & General (Unit Trust Managers) Limited as the appointed fund management company. The Accountant General's responsibilities as Accounting Officer for Funds in Court therefore do not extend to these accounts and they are therefore signed by the Unit Trust Managers only.

7. How does the Accountant General honour his responsibilities?

The Accountant General manages his responsibilities and associated risks through the Office of the Accountant General (OAG).

The OAG manages funds held in Court in the name of the Accountant General of the Senior Courts under the Act. Certain funds may be invested in Common Investment Schemes. Under the direction of the Court and on behalf of the Accountant General, the responsibilities of the OAG include:

- buying and selling units in the Common Investment Scheme (on behalf of eligible investors);
- maintenance of a register of unit holders in the Common Investment Fund (albeit only on behalf of beneficiaries
 of the Court Funds Office (CFO) see note 17 for the Split of Assets by Investment Channel);
- distribution to unitholders of dividends calculated by the Manager;
- payment of Investment Manager's fees;
- Investment management oversight through the OAG Management Team which advises the Ministry of Justice on investment strategy and performance monitoring;
- the implementation of a control framework with the Investment Manager to provide sufficient assurance to the Accounting Officer.

8. Accounts and Audit

These accounts are in respect of the Ministry of Justice Equity Index Tracker Fund for the year ended 28 February 2022 and have been prepared in accordance with an Accounts Direction issued by Treasury under Section 45(2) of the Act. The Comptroller and Auditor General is appointed external auditor under Section 45(3) of the Act. The responsibilities of the Comptroller and Auditor General are set out in the Certificate and Report as detailed on pages 14 to 22. The notional audit fee for the audit of the Ministry of Justice Equity Index Tracker Funds Financial Statements for the year ended 28 February 2022 is £23,500 plus VAT of £nil. This fee is borne by the Ministry of Justice.

The Legal & General (Unit Trust Managers) Limited Board of Directors and the Accountant General have taken all the steps that they ought to have taken to make themselves aware of any relevant audit information and to establish that the Fund's auditors are aware of that information. So far as they are aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the Fund's auditors are unaware. The Accountant General's responsibility only extends to CFO clients. For other clients, separate arrangements apply.

A. J. C. Craven

Director; on behalf of Legal & General (Unit Trust Managers) Limited 5 July 2022

J. McEwen

Accountant General of the Senior Courts 5 July 2022

Investment Manager's Report

Investment Strategy

The Fund's strategy is to track the total return of the composite benchmark by investing in Legal & General Index Tracking Unit Trusts. The Fund's performance benchmark is a composite of the following:

Control Range

Solactive L&G ESG UK Index	55%	+/-2%
Solactive L&G Enhanced ESG Developed Index	35%	+/-2%
FTSE All-World Emerging Markets Index	10%	+/-0.5%

The Solactive L&G ESG UK Index exposure is provided by the purchase of units in the Legal & General Future World ESG UK Index Fund.

The Solactive L&G Enhanced ESG Developed Index exposure is provided by the purchase of units in the Legal & General Future World ESG Developed Index Fund.

The FTSE All-World Emerging Markets Index exposure is provided by the purchase of units in the Legal & General Global Emerging Markets Index Fund.

The investment objective of the Fund is to track the total performance of the composite benchmark Index to within +/-0.5% per annum for two years out of three, before fund costs.

The oversight of the Lord Chancellor's Common Investment Fund (CIF) on behalf of the Lord Chancellor is the responsibility of the Strategic Investment Board (SIB).

All rights in the Solactive L&G ESG UK Index, the Solactive L&G Enhanced ESG Developed Index and the FTSE All World Emerging Index (the "Indices") vest in FTSE International Limited ("FTSE"). "FTSE®" is a trade mark of the London Stock Exchange Group companies and is used by FTSE under licence. The Equity Index Tracker Fund (the "Fund") has been developed solely by Legal & General (Unit Trust Managers) Limited. The Indices are calculated by FTSE or its agent. FTSE and its licensors are not connected to and do not sponsor, advise, recommend, endorse or promote the Fund and do not accept any liability whatsoever to any person arising out of (a) the use of, reliance on or any error in the Indices or (b) investment in or operation of the Fund. FTSE makes no claim, prediction, warranty or representation either as to the results to be obtained from the Fund or the suitability of the Indices for the purpose of which they are being put by Legal & General (Unit Trust Managers) Limited.

Manager's Investment Report

Over the 12 months under review, the Equity Index Tracker Fund rose by 11.66%, while the composite benchmark rose by 11.90% producing a tracking deviation of -0.24%. The published price of the Fund's units valued at 12 noon rose by 7.78% during that year.

Tracking Deviation

The table below shows the Fund Performance for the period from 1 March 2021 to 28 February 2022, with the benchmark performance, which comprises of 55% Solactive L&G ESG UK Index, 35% Solactive L&G Enhanced ESG Developed Markets Index and 10% FTSE All World Emerging Markets Index from the 15 June 2020.

	Mar-21	Apr-21	May-21	Jun-21	Jul-21	Aug-21	
Total Fund (%)	3.88	4.35	0.06	2.12	(0.09)	2.95	
Benchmark (%)	3.87	4.37	0.09	2.14	(80.0)	2.96	
Relative (%)	0.01	(0.02)	(0.03)	(0.02)	0.00	(0.02)	
	Sept-21	Oct-21	Nov-21	Dec-21	Jan-22	Feb-22	12 Months
Total Fund (%)	(1.63)	2.32	(0.78)	2.88	(2.78)	(1.87)	11.66
Benchmark (%)	(1.63)	2.33	(0.66)	2.89	(2.80)	(1.85)	11.90
Relative (%)	0.01	(0.02)	(0.11)	(0.02)	0.02	(0.02)	(0.23)

Source: Lipper, as at 28 February 2022

Past performance is not a guide to future performance.

The value of investments and income from them may go down as well as up.

In order to calculate the tracking performance of the Fund, the total performance of the underlying unit trusts is compared with the total performance of the composite benchmark. This is because adjustments have to be made for accrued income within the underlying trusts. We also use close of trade values for the underlying unit trusts in order to make a valid comparison with the Indices.

Distribution Review

Distributions were made by the Legal & General Future World ESG UK Index Fund, Legal & General Future World ESG Developed Index Fund and the Legal & General Global Emerging Markets Index Fund. These distributions are held in a cash income account within the Equity Index Tracker Fund (the "Fund"). Distribution dates for Legal & General Future World ESG UK Index Fund, Legal & General Future World ESG Developed Index Fund are 31 May and 30 November. The Legal & General Global Emerging Markets Index Fund distribution date is 30 September.

Market/Economic Review

Despite going through something of a hiccup towards the end of the year, global equity Indices made strong gains over the past year as investors weighed up the likely trajectory of the economic recovery from the pandemic. Unprecedented stimulus from central banks and the creation of effective vaccines had form the dual foundations of the rebound.

UK Equities

Against this backdrop, having significantly lagged the global rebound initially, UK equities nevertheless made notable gains over the 12-month period although mid-caps lost sufficient ground to mean they finished in the red for the year. Market momentum was sustained through the early months of 2021 as the UK led the way with its vaccine rollout, despite a harsh winter lockdown, with economic indicators showing a strong recovery as shops and restaurants opened their doors once again. Growth then slowed as the year wore on, with investor attention turning to the rise of the US economy, followed by greater interest in Europe as the region's vaccination programme made belated progress.

Overseas Equities

US equity markets outperformed their developed market peers. Throughout the early months of global lockdowns US equity returns were powered by the technology sector – clear beneficiaries of the 'stay at home' environment, with technology used to facilitate work and shopping. However, over the past year, the energy sector has been the standout performer, with financials another area of notable strength. Consumer services was the weakest sector over the 12 months, but nevertheless ended the year in positive territory.

European equity returns outperformed the broader Index for much of the first half of the year, but lost ground in the second half of the year, ending the year some way behind the global average. COVID-19 hit many of the region's biggest economies hard: Italy, Spain, France and Germany all endured torrid periods and long stretches under lockdown conditions. Along with energy, among the leading European equity sectors on an annual basis was consumer staples. The travel and leisure sector endured a difficult 12 months and ended the year firmly in negative territory.

Asia Pacific equity posted positive returns for the year but significantly underperformed the global average, dragged down by China. While China had propelled the region in the early stages of the pandemic during the review year, it dragged down the region. Data points to an overheating Chinese economy which, together with comparatively modest official GDP numbers, suggest that further monetary tightening in China is likely. This was compounded by tighter government regulations in a number of sectors in the closing months of the review year and fears of a high-profile default in the real estate sector leading to a significant decline in Chinese equities as investors braced for the possibility of further regulatory pressure in the months ahead. India, by contrast, enjoyed a strong 12 months, despite a wobble towards the end of the reporting year.

Emerging markets posted a negative return for the year, as a result of a significant decline in the second half of the year. Although many emerging market countries benefited from a higher oil price because of improved consumption forecasts, the rise of the US Dollar against emerging market currencies weighed on returns. The headline decline in emerging market equities over the year masks significant variation between the sector's various constituent countries. As mentioned above, China saw heavy selling amid signs of an economic slowdown and regulatory worries, resulting in the country dragging down the Index, while Russian equities fell sharply on news of the country's invasion of neighbouring Ukraine late in the year.

Outlook

Looking ahead, Russia's military activity in Ukraine will be the dominant market focus, with direct implications for local financial assets as well as energy prices. Globally, investors will weigh the impact of energy prices and supply disruption on inflation, together with how sanctions and sentiment could impact economic growth, the near-term risk of recession and how monetary and fiscal policy will react. Government bond yields and risky assets have already reacted to some degree, but there is likely more volatility to come, arguing against taking significant portfolio risk.

Details of the management of the underlying unit trusts can be found in those trusts' report and accounts which are available on request from Legal & General on 0370 050 0955.

Call charges will vary. We may record and monitor calls.

Legal & General Investment Management Limited (Investment Manager) 5 April 2022

Important Note from the Manager

Since January 2020, global financial markets have been affected by the COVID-19 pandemic. Whilst causing major uncertainty within markets and disrupting businesses, as well as everyday life, the success of vaccination rollout programs around the globe has seen markets stabilise and a degree of normality return. As lockdown measures in major economies are relaxed, we are cognisant of an upturn in infection rates and the potential for restrictions and volatility to return. As such, the Manager is monitoring the situation on an on-going basis.

In response to recent events in Eastern Europe, the Manager is closely monitoring financial markets and any potential liquidity and volatility risks which may have an impact on the Fund.

Legal & General (Unit Trust Managers) Limited March 2022

Governance Statement

Scope of responsibility

The Legal & General (Unit Trust Managers) Limited Board of Directors have responsibility for maintaining a sound system of internal controls that supports the achievement of the Ministry of Justice Equity Index Tracker Fund policies, aims and objectives, whilst safeguarding the assets of unitholders.

The operation of the Ministry of Justice Equity Index Tracker Fund is governed by the Strategic Investment Board (SIB) on behalf of the Lord Chancellor. The performance of the Fund is reported via quarterly management information, which ensures the objectives of Index tracking are fulfilled. Quarterly meetings are also held between Legal & General and the SIB to discuss performance, operational issues and investment strategy. These Accounts are also reviewed annually by the Ministry of Justice Audit and Risk Committee who also act on behalf of the Lord Chancellor. The Committee has scope to query any aspect of the accounts and the underlying funds to provide the Lord Chancellor with the necessary assurance to approve the account for laying in Parliament.

Assets of the Fund are held by an appointed Custodian who is separate to Legal & General, to ensure that the assets are safeguarded against misuse by ensuring all are held in the Fund's name.

System of internal controls

The system of internal controls is designed to manage risk to a reasonable level rather than eliminate all risk of failure to achieve policies, aims and objectives; it can therefore only provide reasonable, not absolute assurance of effectiveness. The system of internal controls is based on an ongoing process designed to identify the risks to the achievement of policies, aims and objectives, to evaluate the likelihood of those risks being realised and their potential impact, and to manage them efficiently, effectively and compliantly.

Risk Framework

Legal & General (Unit Trust Managers) Limited (UTM) of Legal & General Investment Management (Holdings) Limited (LGIMH), as a subsidiary of Legal & General Group Plc (L&G), operates within a group-wide risk management framework.

The risk framework seeks to ensure all significant risks are identified, and that appropriate strategies are in place for their management. The framework consists of formal committees, risk management policies, risk assessment and reporting processes, and oversight functions. These enable the directors and senior management to debate key risks and draw assurance that they are being appropriately identified and managed, and that an independent assessment of risk is being performed.

Legal & General operates a 'three lines of defence' model of risk management and assurance. As the first line of defence, business management are responsible for managing risks, the second line Risk and Compliance functions (and Group level committees) oversee and challenge the management of risk, and the third line, Internal Audit, provide independent assurance that risks are effectively managed and that there is appropriate oversight.

Risk assessment is carried out on a bottom up and top down basis. On a monthly basis, business management carry out a self-assessment of the performance of the key controls in place to mitigate risk. This assessment is carried out using OneSumX risk management system.

Legal & General Compliance functions carry out periodic risk-based monitoring of controls. In addition, the Internal Audit function operates a similar risk-based programme of periodic audits of control. These functions report findings to key committees and recorded issues (identified control gaps and/or weaknesses) on the risk management systems, which ensure that associated actions are tracked and evidenced.

Such assurances assist the Group Board in forming their opinion on the effectiveness of the Group's risk management and internal control framework, in accordance with its obligations under the UK Corporate Governance Code. During the year, no material findings have been contained within the published reports.

Corporate Governance

Legal & General (Unit Trust Managers) Limited is a Company authorised and regulated by the FCA and its Board members are persons approved by the FCA to carry out significant management and control functions. The Company is a subsidiary company of Legal & General Investment Management (Holdings) Limited, which is itself a subsidiary of Legal & General Group Plc.

The UTM Board consists of seven Directors (including three Non-Executive Directors) as listed on page 43, each with approved person responsibility for UTM and other Legal & General companies. The independent Chief Compliance Officer and Chief Risk Officer also attend the Board meetings. The Board of Legal & General Group Plc has a number of Non-Executive Directors.

The UTM Board is the legally accountable governance forum for the management of the firm and meets quarterly. The Board delegates the management of inherent risks to a series of Governance Committees with Terms of Reference that meet monthly. These include (but are not limited to) the LGIM Executive Risk Committee and Fund Management Oversight Committee, which respectively oversee the management of operational risks and fund risk on its behalf. These delegated authorities are periodically monitored and reviewed by the Board.

On an annual basis the UTM Board approves the firm's financial statements and the findings of the external auditor's report, which is then filed with the FCA. The business also approves the full documentation and output from the stress and scenario analysis of the firm's risks and capital, including the process and costs of winding the firm down in an orderly fashion, as required by the regulations. The output of this assessment is filed with the FCA according to an agreed cycle, currently every two years.

Review of effectiveness

The Board of UTM have responsibility for reviewing the effectiveness of the system of internal controls. The Board's review of internal control is informed by the work of the internal auditors, support functions and the Executive Managers within UTM who have responsibility for the development and maintenance of the risk management framework, and comments made by the external auditor in their management letter and other reports. On the basis of this information, The Board can confirm there are no significant internal control issues to report.

A. J. C. Craven

Director; on behalf of Legal & General (Unit Trust Managers) Limited 5 July 2022

Respective Responsibilities of the Lord Chancellor, Accountant General and Investment Manager

Lord Chancellor's Responsibilities

Under Section 42(1) of the Administration of Justice Act 1982 (the Act), the Lord Chancellor may make schemes ('Common Investment Schemes') establishing Common Investment Funds for the purpose of investing funds in Court and other monies defined under Section 42(5)(b) of the Act.

Under Section 42(2) of the Act, the Common Investment Schemes made by the Lord Chancellor shall provide for an Investment Manager to be appointed by the Lord Chancellor to manage and control the Common Investment Funds established. On 1 September 2003, the Lord Chancellor appointed Legal & General (Unit Trust Managers) Limited as the Investment Manager of the Fund. This appointment is under a Deed of Appointment between Legal and General and the Lord Chancellor which is retendered every five years.

Accountant General's Responsibilities

The Secretary of State and Lord Chancellor has, under Section 97(2) of the Senior Courts Act 1981, as amended by the Public Trustee and Administration of Funds Act 1986, appointed James McEwen as Accountant General on 29 August 2020. The Permanent Secretary of the Ministry of Justice has also appointed the Accountant General as the Accounting Officer for Funds in Court.

His relevant responsibilities as Accounting Officer, including responsibilities for the propriety and regularity of the funds for which he is answerable and for the keeping of proper records, are set out in the Accounting Officer's Memorandum issued by the Treasury and published in 'Managing Public Money'.

However, the operation of the investment fund is the responsibility of Legal & General (Unit Trust Managers) Limited as the appointed fund management company. The Accountant General's responsibilities as Accounting Officer for Funds in Court therefore do not extend to these accounts and are therefore signed by the Unit Trust Managers only. The Accountant General exercises his Accounting Officer responsibilities through the Funds in Court Part A Account which consolidates Part C.

Investment Manager's Responsibilities

Under Section 45(1)(c) of the Act, and in accordance with directions issued by Treasury, the Investment Manager is responsible for preparing the financial statements in respect of the Common Investment Scheme, Ministry of Justice Equity Index Tracker Fund.

The HM Treasury Accounts Direction requires the Investment Manager to follow best practice. In preparing the Funds Accounts, the Manager follows the disclosure requirements of the Statement of Recommended Practice for Financial Statements of UK Authorised Funds issued by the Investment Association in May 2014 as updated by additional requirements from the Financial Conduct Authority (from time to time) and to the extent that such requirements are relevant to the Common Investment Fund. These require the Investment Manager to prepare accounts for each annual accounting period which give a true and fair view of the financial affairs of the Fund and of income/expenditure for the period.

In preparing the accounts the Manager is required to:

- select suitable accounting policies and apply them consistently;
- comply with the disclosure requirements of the Statement of Recommended Practice relating to Financial Statements of UK Authorised Funds to the extent that such requirements are relevant to the Common Investment Funds;
- follow applicable accounting standards; and
- keep proper accounting records, which enable the Investment Manager to demonstrate that the accounts as prepared comply with the above requirements.

The Investment Manager is responsible for the management of the Funds in accordance with the Deed of Appointment with the Lord High Chancellor dated 3 July 2003 and the Common Investment Scheme Statutory Instrument 2004 No. 266. The current Deed of Appointment runs from 17 February 2022 to 16 February 2024 unless otherwise determined.

Certificate and Report of the Comptroller and Auditor General to the Houses of Parliament

Opinion on financial statements

I certify that I have audited the financial statements of the Ministry of Justice Equity Index Tracker Fund for the year ended 28 February 2022 under the Administration of Justice Act 1982.

The financial statements comprise the Ministry of Justice Equity Index Tracker Fund's:

- Statement of Total Return for the year ended 28 February 2022;
- Statement of Changes in Net Assets attributable to Unitholders for the year ended 28 February 2022;
- Balance Sheet as at 28 February 2022; and
- The related notes including the significant accounting policies.

The financial reporting framework that has been applied in the preparation of the financial statements is applicable law and the United Kingdom Accounting Standards (United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice).

In my opinion, the financial statements:

- give a true and fair view of the state of the Ministry of Justice Equity Index Tracker Fund's affairs as at 28 February 2022 and of the change in net assets attributable to unitholders for the year ended; and
- have been properly prepared in accordance with the Administration of Justice Act 1982 and HM Treasury directions issued thereunder.

Opinion on regularity

In my opinion, in all material respects, the income and expenditure recorded in the financial statements have been applied to the purposes intended by Parliament and the financial transactions recorded in the financial statements conform to the authorities which govern them.

Basis of opinions

I conducted my audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs) (UK), applicable law and Practice Note 10 Audit of Financial Statements of Public Sector Entities in the United Kingdom. My responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor's responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements section of my certificate.

Those standards require me and my staff to comply with the Financial Reporting Council's Revised Ethical Standard 2019. I have also elected to apply the ethical standards relevant to listed entities. I am independent of the Ministry of Justice Equity Index Tracker Fund in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to my audit of the financial statements in the UK. My staff and I have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements.

I believe that the audit evidence I have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my opinion.

Conclusions relating to going concern

In auditing the financial statements, I have concluded that the Ministry of Justice Equity Index Tracker Fund's use of the going concern basis of accounting in the preparation of the financial statements is appropriate.

Based on the work I have performed, I have not identified any material uncertainties relating to events or conditions that, individually or collectively, may cast significant doubt on the Ministry of Justice Equity Index Tracker Fund's ability to continue as a going concern for a period of at least twelve months from when the financial statements are authorised for issue.

My responsibilities and the responsibilities of the Investment Manager with respect to going concern are described in the relevant sections of this certificate.

Other Information

The other information comprises information included in the Foreword, the Investment Manager's Report, the Governance Statement and the Respective Responsibilities of the Lord Chancellor, Accountant General and Investment Manager, but does not include the financial statements nor my auditor's certificate and report. The Investment Manager is responsible for the other information.

My opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and, except to the extent otherwise explicitly stated in my certificate, I do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with my audit of the financial statements, my responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or my knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If I identify such material inconsistencies or apparent material misstatements, I am required to determine whether this gives rise to a material misstatement in the financial statements themselves. If, based on the work I have performed, I conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, I am required to report that fact.

I have nothing to report in this regard.

Opinion on other matters

In my opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit:

- the parts of the Foreword, the Investment Manager's Report, the Governance Statement and the Respective Responsibilities of the Lord Chancellor, Accountant General and Investment Manager subject to audit have been properly prepared in accordance with HM Treasury directions made under the Administration of Justice Act 1982; and
- the information given in Foreword, the Investment Manager's Report, the Governance Statement and the Respective Responsibilities of the Lord Chancellor, Accountant General and Investment Manager for the financial year for which the financial statements are prepared is consistent with the financial statements and is in accordance with the applicable legal requirements.

Matters on which I report by exception

In the light of the knowledge and understanding of the Ministry of Justice Equity Index Tracker Fund and its environment obtained in the course of the audit, I have not identified material misstatements in the Foreword, the Investment Manager's Report, the Governance Statement and the Respective Responsibilities of the Lord Chancellor, Accountant General and Investment Manager.

I have nothing to report in respect of the following matters which I report to you if, in my opinion:

- I have not received all of the information and explanations I require for my audit; or
- adequate accounting records have not been kept by the Ministry of Justice Equity Index Tracker Fund or returns
 adequate for my audit have not been received from branches not visited by my staff; or
- the financial statements and the parts of the Foreword and Investment Manager's Report subject to audit are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns; or
- the Governance Statement does not reflect compliance with HM Treasury's guidance.

Responsibilities of the Investment Manager for the financial statements

As explained more fully in the Statement of Respective Responsibilities of the Lord Chancellor, Accountant General and Investment Manager, the Investment Manager is responsible for:

- maintaining proper accounting records;
- the preparation of the financial statements in accordance with the Administration of Justice Act 1982 and with directions made by HM Treasury and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view;
- ensuring that the accounts as a whole are fair, balanced and understandable;
- internal controls as the Investment Manager determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements to be free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; and
- assessing the Ministry of Justice Equity Index Tracker Fund's ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the Investment Manager anticipates that the services provided by Ministry of Justice Equity Index Tracker Fund will not continue to be provided in the future.

Auditor's responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

My responsibility is to audit, certify and report on the financial statements in accordance with the Administration of Justice Act 1982.

My objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue a certificate that includes my opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs (UK) will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

Extent to which the audit was considered capable of detecting non-compliance with laws and regulations including fraud

I design procedures in line with my responsibilities, outlined above, to detect material misstatements in respect of non-compliance with laws and regulations, including fraud. The extent to which my procedures are capable of detecting non-compliance with laws and regulations, including fraud is detailed below.

Identifying and assessing potential risks related to non-compliance with laws and regulations, including fraud In identifying and assessing risks of material misstatement in respect of non-compliance with laws and regulations, including fraud, we considered the following:

- the nature of the sector, control environment and operational performance including the design of the Ministry
 of Justice Equity Index Tracker Fund's accounting policies, key performance indicators and performance
 incentives.
- Inquiring of management and those charged with governance, including obtaining and reviewing supporting documentation relating to the Ministry of Justice Equity Index Tracker Fund's policies and procedures relating to:
 - identifying, evaluating and complying with laws and regulations and whether they were aware of any instances of non-compliance;
 - detecting and responding to the risks of fraud and whether they have knowledge of any actual, suspected or alleged fraud; and
 - the internal controls established to mitigate risks related to fraud or non-compliance with laws and regulations including the Ministry of Justice Equity Index Tracker Fund's controls relating to the Ministry of Justice Equity Index Tracker Fund's compliance with the Administration of Justice Act 1982, Common Investment Scheme 2004 and Managing Public Money;
- discussing among the engagement team regarding how and where fraud might occur in the financial statements and any potential indicators of fraud.

As a result of these procedures, I considered the opportunities and incentives that may exist within the Ministry of Justice Equity Index Tracker Fund for fraud. In common with all audits under ISAs (UK), I am also required to perform specific procedures to respond to the risk of management override of controls.

I also obtained an understanding of the Ministry of Justice Equity Index Tracker Fund's framework of authority as well as other legal and regulatory frameworks in which the Ministry of Justice Equity Index Tracker Fund operates, focusing on those laws and regulations that had a direct effect on material amounts and disclosures in the financial statements or that had a fundamental effect on the operations of the Ministry of Justice Equity Index Tracker Fund. The key laws and regulations I considered in this context included Administration of Justice Act 1982, Common Investment Scheme 2004 and Managing Public Money.

Audit response to identified risk

As a result of performing the above, the procedures I implemented to respond to identified risks included the following:

- reviewing the financial statement disclosures and testing to supporting documentation to assess compliance with provisions of relevant laws and regulations described above as having direct effect on the financial statements;
- reading and reviewing minutes of meetings of those charged with governance and the Board;
- in addressing the risk of fraud through management override of controls, testing the appropriateness of journal entries and other adjustments; assessing whether the judgements made in making accounting estimates are indicative of a potential bias; and evaluating the business rationale of any significant transactions that are unusual or outside the normal course of business; and
- other audit procedures responsive to the risk of fraud, non-compliance with laws and regulation or irregularity as appropriate including reviewing transactions or unusual trading activities or payments, confirming that transactions are in line with the activities permitted under the Administration of Justice Act 1982 and making enquiries of those charged with governance.

I also communicated relevant identified laws and regulations and potential fraud risks to all engagement team members and remained alert to any indications of fraud or non-compliance with laws and regulations throughout the audit.

A further description of my responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located on the Financial Reporting Council's website at: www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description forms part of my certificate.

Other auditor's responsibilities

I am required to obtain evidence sufficient to give reasonable assurance that the income and expenditure reported in the financial statements have been applied to the purposes intended by Parliament and the financial transactions conform to the authorities which govern them.

I communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that I identify during my audit.

Report

I have no observations to make on these financial statements.

Gareth Davies Comptroller and Auditor General

National Audit Office 157-197 Buckingham Palace Road Victoria London SW1W 9SP

12 July 2022

Portfolio Statement (unaudited)

Portfolio Statement as at 28 February 2022

All investments are in distribution units unless otherwise stated. The percentages in brackets show the equivalent sector holdings at 28 February 2021.

Holding/ Nominal Value	Investment	Market Value £	% of Net Assets
value	investment	_	Assets
85,359,131	Unit Trusts investing in UK shares — 55.19% (55.34%) Legal & General Future World		
	ESG UK Index Fund 'L' Inc	50,737,467	55.19
	Unit Trusts investing in overseas shares — 44.77% (44.63%)		
49,618,920	Legal & General Future World	22.024.051	24.02
	ESG Developed Index Fund 'L'Inc	32,024,051	34.83
14,566,529	Legal & General Global Emerging		
	Markets Index Fund 'L' Inc	9,137,583	9.94
		41,161,634	44.77
Portfolio of investments		91,899,101	99.96
Net other assets		40,095	0.04
Total net assets		£91,939,196	100.00

Total purchases for the year: £6,159,511. Total sales for the year: £13,094,768.

Financial Statements

Statement of Total Return for the year ended 28 February 2022

			28/02/22		28/02/21
Income	Notes	£	£	£	£
Net capital gains	3		6,505,327		6,741,544
Revenue	4	2,389,097		1,824,674	
Expenses	5	(217,618)		(173,432)	
Interest payable and similar charges	7	(120)		(5)	
Net revenue before taxation		2,171,359		1,651,237	
Taxation	6			<u> </u>	
Net revenue after taxation for the y	<i>r</i> ear		2,171,359		1,651,237
Total return before distributions			8,676,686		8,392,781
Distributions	7		(2,175,063)		(1,651,237)
Change in net assets attributable to Unitho from investment activ			6,501,623		6,741,544

Statement of Change in Net Assets attributable to Unitholders for the year ended 28 February 2022

		28/02/22		28/02/21
	£	£	£	£
Opening net assets attributable to Unitholders		92,391,526		89,973,561
Amounts received on issue of units	4,768,226		3,704,810	
Amounts paid on cancellation of units	(11,722,179)		(8,028,389)	
Change in matacasts		(6,953,953)		(4,323,579)
Change in net assets attributable to Unitholders from investment activities		6,501,623		6,741,544
Closing net assets attributable to Unitholders		91,939,196		92,391,526

The notes on pages 85 to 93 form part of these accounts.

Balance Sheet as at 28 February 2022

		28/02/22	28/02/21
	Notes	£	£
ASSETS			
Fixed assets: Investments		91,899,101	92,364,711
Current assets: Debtors Cash and bank balances	8 9	833,262 1,257,263	95,364 498,630
Total assets		93,989,626	92,958,705
LIABILITIES			
Creditors: Bank overdrafts Distributions payable Other creditors	9 7 10	(12) (1,129,803) (920,615)	(214) (431,661) (135,304)
Total liabilities		(2,050,430)	(567,179)
Net assets attributable to Unitholders		£91,939,196	£92,391,526

The notes on pages 85 to 93 form part of these accounts.

A. J. C. Craven

Director; on behalf of Legal & General (Unit Trust Managers) Limited 5 July 2022

Notes to the Financial Statements

1. Statement of Compliance

The Financial Statements have been prepared in compliance with UK Financial Reporting Standard 102 (FRS 102) and in accordance with the Statement of Recommended Practice for UK Authorised Funds issued by the Investment Association in May 2014 (2014 SORP).

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(a) Basis of Preparation

The Financial Statements have been prepared on a going concern basis, under the historical cost convention as modified by the revaluation of certain financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value through profit or loss. In making this assessment, and in response to COVID-19, the Manager has considered, amongst other things, factors such as Fund size, cash flows through the Fund and Fund liquidity in its assessment of the Fund's ability to meet its liabilities as they fall due. Based on this assessment, the Manager deems the basis of preparation appropriate.

The principal accounting policies which have been applied consistently are set out below.

(b) Functional and Presentation Currency

The functional and presentation currency of the Fund is Sterling.

(c) Recognition of Revenue

Revenue from distribution and accumulation units in Collective Investment Schemes is recognised when the distribution is quoted ex-dividend.

Equalisation on distributions received from Collective Investment Schemes is treated as capital property of the Fund.

All other revenue is recognised on an accruals basis.

(d) Treatment of Expenses

All expenses (other than those relating to the purchase or sale of investments) are charged against revenue on an accruals basis.

The Fund receives a rebate for managerial fees suffered by investments in underlying Collective Investment Schemes. These are treated as revenue or capital depending on the treatment of the Manager's fees in the underlying investment.

(e) Distribution Policy

Realisable revenue, after deduction of those expenses which are chargeable in calculation of the distribution, will be paid to those Unitholders with a holding at ex-dividend date.

All expenses charged to the Fund, with the exception of professional fees, are deducted from revenue for the purpose of calculating the distribution.

In order to conduct a controlled dividend flow, interim distributions will be at the Manager's discretion, up to a maximum of the distributable revenue for the period.

Distributions which have remained unclaimed by Unitholders for over six years are credited to the capital property of the Fund.

(f) Basis of valuation of investments

All investments have been valued at their fair value as at 12 noon on 28 February 2022, being the last working day of the accounting year. For the investments in Legal & General Future World ESG UK Index Fund and Legal & General Global Emerging Markets Index Fund, the last available valuation is also 12 noon on 28 February 2022, however, for the Legal & General Future World ESG Developed Index Fund, the latest valuation was 3pm on 25 February 2022. The fair value for units in Collective Investment Schemes is the cancellation price or bid price for dual priced funds and single price for single priced funds.

Investment in securities by Legal & General on behalf of Ministry of Justice Equity Index Tracker Fund are carried out on an arm's length basis following the best execution principles thereby ensuring that Legal & General meets its regulatory obligations in respect of best execution.

(g) Taxation

Provision is made for taxation at current rates on the excess of investment revenue over expenses.

Deferred tax is provided for on all timing differences that have originated but not reversed by the balance sheet date, other than those differences that are regarded as permanent. Any liability to deferred tax is provided for at the average rate of tax expected to apply.

3. Net capital gains

	28/02/22	28/02/21
	£	£
The net capital gains during the year comprise:		
Currency losses	(213)	(762)
Non-derivative securities	6,506,170	6,743,621
Transaction charges	(603)	(1,315)
Net capital gains	6,505,327	6,741,544

4. Revenue

£
769,851
406
54,417
324,674

28/02/22

28/02/21

5. Expenses

5. Expenses		
	28/02/22	28/02/21
	£	£
Payable to the Manager, associates of the Manager and agents of either of them:		
Manager's periodic fee	187,475	147,368
Registration fees	21,530	21,233
	209,005	168,601
Payable to the Custodian, associates of the Custodian		
and agents of either of them: Safe custody fees	4,909	4,831
,		
Other expenses: Legal fees	3,704	_
		
Total expenses	217,618	173,432
6. Taxation		
(a) A color (to other description)		
(a) Analysis of taxation charge in year	20/02/22	20/02/21
	28/02/22	28/02/21
Corporation Tay	£	£
Corporation Tax Irrecoverable income tax		_
Current tax [note 6(b)]		
Deferred tax [note 6(c)]	_	_
Total taxation		
(b) Factors affecting taxation charge for the year		
The total tax charge excludes capital gains and losses for the reason that Commo to Corporation Tax on these items. Total tax differs from taxation assessed on ne		
Net revenue before taxation	2,171,359	1,651,237
Net revenue before taxation multiplied by the applicable rate of		
Corporation Tax at 20%	42.4.272	220 247
(2021: 20%)	434,272	330,247
Effects of:		
Revenue not subject to taxation	(455,645)	(350,105)
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes Excess management expenses not utilised	741 20,632	— 19,858
Total tax		

(c) Provision for deferred tax

There is no deferred tax provision in the current or preceding year. As at the balance sheet date, there is a potential deferred tax asset of £94,155 (28 February 2021: £73,523) due to surplus management expenses.

It is unlikely the Fund will generate sufficient taxable profits in the future to utilise this amount and therefore no deferred tax asset has been recognised (28 February 2021: same).

7. Distributions

The distributions take account of revenue received on the creation of units and revenue deducted on the cancellation of units and comprise:

	28/02/22	28/02/21
	£	£
Interim distribution	986,214	1,184,593
Final distribution	1,129,803	431,661
	2,116,017	1,616,254
Add: Revenue deducted on cancellation of units	109,853	67,076
Less: Revenue received on creation of units	(50,807)	(32,093)
Distributions for the year	2,175,063	1,651,237
Interest payable		
Bank overdraft interest	120	5
	2,175,183	1,651,242

The differences between the net revenue after taxation and the distributions for the year are as follows:

	28/02/22	28/02/21
	£	£
Net revenue after taxation for the year Add: capitalised expenses	2,171,359 3,704	1,651,237 —
Distributions for the year	2,175,063	1,651,237

8. Debtors

	28/02/22	28/02/21
	£	£
Sales awaiting settlement	803,234	75,640
Income tax recoverable	9,148	228
Management fee rebates	20,880	19,496
	833,262	95,364

9. Net uninvested cash

	28/02/22	28/02/21
	£	£
Cash and bank balances	1,257,263	498,630
Bank overdrafts	(12)	(214)
Net uninvested cash	1,257,251	498,416
10. Creditors	28/02/22	28/02/21
	£	£
Amounts payable for cancellation of units	828,006	73,997
Accrued expenses	92,609	61,307
	920,615	135,304

11. Contingent liabilities and outstanding commitments

There were no contingent liabilities or outstanding commitments at the balance sheet date (28 February 2021: same).

12. Financial Instruments and Associated Risks

The investments of a Fund in financial securities and derivatives are subject to normal market fluctuations and other risks inherent in investing in such instruments. Legal & General (Unit Trust Managers) Limited (UTM) is the Authorised Fund Manager and has responsibility for ensuring appropriate risk management processes are implemented for each Unit Trust.

The UTM Board has delegated the risk oversight function to the Unit Trust Funds Committee (UTMFC), a subcommittee of the UTM Board that meets monthly. The primary objective of the UTMFC is to ensure proper oversight of investment management activity for UTM in its capacity as Authorised Fund Manager. The committee members are: the Vice Chairman of Investments (Chair), the Chief Administration Officer (UTM), the Finance Director (UTM), Head of Fund Governance, Head of Operational Risk, Head of Investment Operations and the Head of Retail Distribution. Members of the Fund Operations Team also attend from a Fund Governance and Regulatory Fund Oversight perspective.

Each Fund has an investment objective and investment policy, against which the Fund manager will operate. Each Fund has an Investment Objectives and Guidelines ("IOG") document which contains these and forms part of the Investment Management Agreement between LGIM and UTM. The IOG contains a list of the instruments and agreed investment weightings for those instruments that can be used by the Fund to achieve its objective. These are maintained by each fund manager, reviewed by the LGIM Operational Risk and Compliance Teams and approved by UTM on behalf of the UTM board. The IOGs provide the detail needed to determine the risk profile for each fund. Fund managers are not permitted to invest into any new instruments without first gaining approval from UTM for their addition into the IOG.

The Investment Strategy of this Fund is detailed on page 69.

(a) Market Risk arising from other price risk

Market Risk arises mainly from uncertainty about future prices.

It represents the potential loss the Fund may suffer through holding market positions in the face of market movements.

Other price risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market prices (other than those arising from interest rate risk or currency risk), whether those changes are caused by factors specific to the individual financial instrument or its issuer, or factors affecting similar instruments traded in the market.

The assets held by the Fund can be seen in the Portfolio Statement on page 23. Given that the Fund invests in other Collective Investment Schemes, there is market risk exposure in respect of the financial instruments held by these entities. The Manager adheres to the investment guidelines and borrowing powers established in the Fund Deed and Prospectus. In this way, the Manager monitors and controls the exposure to risk from any type of security, sector or issuer.

As at the balance sheet date, if the price of the investments held by the Fund increased or decreased by 5%, with all other variables remaining constant, then the net assets attributable to unitholders would increase or decrease by approximately £4,594,955 (28 February 2021: £4,618,236).

(b) Interest Rate Risk

Interest Rate Risk is the risk of movements in the value of financial instruments as a result of fluctuations in interest rates.

The Fund's only interest bearing financial instruments were its bank balances and overdraft facilities as disclosed in note 9.

Cash is deposited and overdraft facilities utilised on normal commercial terms.

In the event of a change in interest rates, there would be no material impact upon the assets of the Fund.

(c) Foreign Currency Risk

Foreign Currency Risk is the risk of movements in the value of financial instruments as a result of fluctuations in exchange rates.

As at the balance sheet date, the Fund had no significant exposures to currencies other than Sterling, however, the underlying Collective Investment Schemes may have currency risk exposure (28 February 2021: same).

(d) Credit Risk

Credit Risk is the risk of suffering financial loss as a result of a counterparty to a financial transaction being unable to fulfil their financial obligations as they fall due.

As this Fund invests in Collective Investment Schemes, there is credit risk in respect of the assets held by these Schemes.

This risk is managed by appraising the credit profile of financial instruments and issuers in line with the Fund's investment strategy.

92,364,711

(e) Liquidity Risk

Liquidity Risk relates to the capacity to meet liabilities as they fall due. The primary source of this risk to the Fund is the liability to Unitholders for any cancellation of units.

This risk is minimised by holding a large proportion of readily realisable assets, cash balances and via access to overdraft facilities.

(f) Fair Value

The fair value of a financial instrument is the amount for which it could be exchanged between knowledgeable, willing parties in an arm's length transaction. There is no material difference between the value of the financial assets and liabilities, as shown in the financial statements, and their fair value.

The Statement of Recommended Practice for Financial Statements of UK Authorised Funds issued by the Investment Association in May 2014 requires the classification of the Fund's financial instruments held at the year end into a 3 tiered fair value hierarchy. The 3 tiers of the hierarchy and the classification of the Fund's financial instruments as at the balance sheet date were:

28/02/22	Assets	Liabilities
Valuation technique	£	£
Level 1 - Quoted Prices Level 2 - Observable Market Data Level 3 - Unobservable Data	91,899,101 —	_ _ _
Total	91,899,101	
28/02/21	Assets	Liabilities
Valuation technique	£	£
Level 1 - Quoted Prices	—	_
Level 2 - Observable Market Data	92,364,711	_

Level 1

Total

Level 3 - Unobservable Data

The unadjusted quoted price in an active market for assets or liabilities that the entity can access at the measurement date.

Level 2

Valuation techniques using observable inputs other than quoted prices within Level 1.

Level 3

Valuation techniques using unobservable inputs.

13. Portfolio transaction costs

As the Fund mainly invests in Collective Investment Schemes, there are no transaction costs (28 February 2021: same).

Total purchases for the year: £6,159,511(28 February 2021: £91,827,658)

Total sales for the year: £13,094,768 (28 February 2021: £95,931,122)

The average portfolio dealing spread, including the effect of foreign exchange, as at the balance sheet date was 0.00% (28 February 2021: 0.00%).

14. Unit classes

The Fund currently has one unit class: Distribution. The annual management charge on the unit class can be found on page 98. The net asset value per unit of the unit class and the number of units in the class are given in the comparative table on page 94. The distributions per unit class are given in the distribution tables on page 93. All classes have the same rights on winding up.

	Distribution
Opening Units	5,196,448
Units issued	240,868
Units cancelled	(605,031)
Units converted	_
Closing Units	4,832,285

15. Post balance sheet events

Post balance events are considered up to the date on which the Accounts are authorised for issue. The date the Accounts are authorised for issue is interpreted as the same date the Accounts are certified by the Comptroller and Auditor General. As at the accounts authorisation date, the following post balance sheet events have occurred.

The ongoing conflict between Russia and Ukraine has led to significant disruption and volatility in the global stock market. As at 28 February 2022, the Fund did not have any significant exposure to Russian and Ukrainian investments. The future ramifications of the evolving conflict may not be limited to Russia and Russian companies or Ukraine but may spill over to other regional and global economic marks, and the extent of the resulting impact is uncertain.

16. Ultimate controlling party and related party transactions

Details of units created and cancelled are shown in the Statement of Net Assets attributable to Unitholders. Note 17 shows the split of existing assets by investment channel.

Investments made on behalf of the Fund include those in Legal & General unit trusts, which had a market value of £91,899,101 at 28 February 2022 (28 February 2021: £92,364,711).

Management fees paid to Legal & General Investment Management Limited are shown in note 5. The balance due in respect of this fee is £78,126 (28 February 2021: £50,421).

Management fee rebates received from Legal & General Investment Management are shown in note 4. Rebates receivable at the year end amount to £20,880 (28 February 2021: £19,496).

Other than the related party transactions disclosed above, none of the key management staff nor any other related party has undertaken any material transactions with the Fund during the year.

17. Split of Assets by Investment Channel

Investment Channel	Net Asset Value Of Fund	Net Asset Value Per Unit	Number of Units in Issue	%
28/02/22				
Court Funds Office (CFO) Other Total	£75,809,975 £16,129,221 £91,939,196	1,902.60p 1,902.60p 1,902.60p	3,984,540 847,745 4,832,285	82.46% 17.54% 100.00%
28/02/21				
Court Funds Office (CFO) Other	£76,534,090 £15,857,436	1,777.97p 1,777.97p	4,304,566 891,882	82.84% 17.16%
Total	£92,391,526	1,777.97p	5,196,448	100.00%

Distribution Tables (unaudited)

Distribution Tables for the year ended 28 February 2022

Group 1: units purchased prior to a distribution period. Group 2: units purchased during a distribution period.

Equalisation is the average amount of revenue included in the purchase price of all Group 2 units and is refunded to the holders of these units as a return of capital. As capital it is not liable to Income Tax but must be deducted from the cost of units for Capital Gains Tax purposes.

Period Interim dividend distribution in pence per unit 01/03/21 to 31/08/21

	Net Revenue	Equalisation	Distribution 12/10/21	Distribution 12/10/20
Distribution Units				
Group 1	19.7150	_	19.7150	22.2820
Group 2	8.0068	11.7082	19.7150	22.2820

Period Final dividend distribution in pence per unit 01/09/21 to 28/02/22

	Net Revenue	Equalisation	Distribution 10/04/22	Distribution 10/04/21
Distribution Units				
Group 1	23.3803	_	23.3803	8.3068
Group 2	0.6707	22.7096	23.3803	8.3068

Fund Information (unaudited)

The Comparative Table below gives the performance of the only active share class in the Fund.

The 'Return after charges' disclosed in the Comparative Table is calculated as the return after operating charges per unit divided by the opening net asset value per unit. It differs from the Fund's performance disclosed in the Manager's report, which is calculated based on the latest published price.

Comparative Table

Distribution Unit Change in Net Asset Value per Unit

Accounting Year ending	28/02/22 (pence per unit)	28/02/21 (pence per unit)	29/02/20 (pence per unit)
Opening net asset value per unit	1,777.97	1,647.29	1,645.71
Return before operating charges* Operating charges	172.10	164.68	59.18
(calculated on average price)	(4.37)	(3.42)	(3.29)
Return after operating charges*	167.73	161.26	55.89
Distributions on income units	(43.10)	(30.58)	(54.31)
Closing net asset value per unit	1,902.60	1,777.97	1,647.29
* after direct transaction costs of:	_	_	_
Performance			
Return after charges	9.43%	9.79%	3.40%
Other Information			
Closing net asset value (£) Closing number of units Operating charges Direct transaction costs	91,939,196 4,832,285 0.224% —	92,391,526 5,196,448 0.209%	89,973,561 5,461,912 0.186% —
Prices			
Highest unit price Lowest unit price	2,054.00p 1,777.00p	1,848.00p 1,298.00p	1,876.00p 1,650.00p

Past performance is not a guide to future performance.

The price of units and any income from them may go down as well as up.

Ongoing Charges Figure

28 Feb 22 0.224% 28 Feb 21 0.209%

The Ongoing Charges Figure is the ratio of the Fund's operating costs (excluding overdraft interest) and all costs suffered through holdings in underlying Collective Investment Schemes, to the average net assets of the Fund.

The Ongoing Charges Figure comprises the following:

	Percentage of		
	investment assets	Fee	
Expense Type	%	£	Note
Annual Management Charge	0.160	156,229	5
VAT on Annual Management Charge	0.032	31,246	5
Registration Fees	0.022	21,530	5
Safe Custody Fees	0.005	4,909	5
Legal Fees	0.004	3,704	5
		217,618	
Transaction Charges Costs incurred through underlying	0.001	630	3
holdings (net of rebates)	_	_	
	0.224	218,248	

The Fund is invested in underlying Collective Investment Schemes (Legal & General Index Tracking Unit Trusts). Annual Management and Registration Charges are already applied at fund level, as illustrated in the table above. Rebates are received from the underlying holdings to ensure that this Fund does not suffer additional excessive charges from investing in Collective Investment Schemes which already have charges applied. The indirect costs suffered through investing in those Trusts amount to a charge of approximately 0.00% for the MoJ Equity Index Tracker Fund, as shown in the table above.

Accounts Direction given by HM Treasury

Funds in Court in England and Wales – Account of the transactions of the Accountant General under Section 38 of the Administration of Justice Act 1982

The Treasury, in pursuance of Section 45(2) of the Act, hereby gives the following Direction:

- 1. The Investment Manager of the Common Investment Funds shall prepare accounts for the Ministry of Justice Equity Index Tracker Fund in respect of the period from 1 September 2003 to 29 February 2004 and thereafter for each period of one year ending on the last day of February.
- 2. The accounts shall give a true and fair view in accordance with generally accepted accounting practice of the financial position of the Fund at the period end and of the net income and movement in the net assets of the Fund for the year.
- 3. The accounts shall be prepared in accordance with a format and content to be agreed between the Investment Manager, the Comptroller and Auditor General and the Court Funds Office, with the consent of Treasury, and shall include:
 - i. a Foreword;
 - ii. a Statement of Responsibilities;
 - iii. a Governance Statement:
 - iv. a Statement of Total Return:
 - v. a Statement of Change to Net Assets attributable to Unitholders;
 - vi. a Balance Sheet;
 - vii. a Portfolio Statement;
 - viii. a Summary of Material Portfolio Changes;
 - ix. a Distribution Table;
 - x. such notes as may be necessary to present a true and fair view; and
 - xi. Administration of Justice Act 1982.
- 4. The Foreword shall include among other items:
 - i. statement that the accounts have been prepared in accordance with directions given by Treasury in pursuance of Section 45(2) of the Act;
 - ii. relevant information in respect of the statutory background of the Fund;
 - ii. the name and period of appointment of the Investment Manager;
 - iv. details of the arrangements for reporting financial performance of the Fund to unitholders;
 - v. statement on the external audit arrangements for the Fund, including commentary on the roles of the Comptroller and Auditor General and the auditors.

- 5. The notes shall include among other items:
 - i. the accounting policies;
 - ii. a statement of the regulatory basis of the accounts, with reference to best practice principles which apply to the funds in which the Ministry of Justice Equity Index Tracker Fund is invested;
 - iii. disclosure of the way in which the Investment Manager applies best execution principles when making investments;
 - iv. a breakdown on material items within the Accounts:
 - v. the tax computation;
 - vi. distribution information;
 - vii. a statement of movements between net income and distributions;
 - viii. any contingent liabilities and contingent assets;
 - ix. any units in issue;
 - x. disclosure of fees and expenses in accordance with the tariff set out in the contract;
 - xi. post balance sheet events;
 - xii. related party transactions, recognising that the Court Funds Office and various entities within Legal and General are both related parties to the Fund, and therefore the disclosure principles laid down in FRS 102 need to be applied;
 - xiii. a summary of the fund structure and the instruments invested in;
 - xiv. a statement of any material errors made good by the Investment Manager and the impact of those errors on the accounts had they not been made good; and
 - xv. the risk management policy.
- 6. When preparing the accounts, the Investment Manager shall comply with UK Financial Reporting Standard 102 (FRS 102), and in accordance with the disclosure requirements of the Statement of Recommended Practice relating to Authorised Funds issued by the Investment Association in May 2014 ('the IA SORP 2014'), to the extent that such requirements are relevant to the Ministry of Justice Equity Index Tracker Fund.
- 7. The Investment Manager will support the Accounts with a General Representation Letter, containing material matters that need to be confirmed to the Comptroller and Auditor General and the Court Funds Office.
- 8. The Investment Manager will also submit the annual taxation computation to the Inland Revenue within the timescales defined by the Inland Revenue.
- 9. The Investment Manager will employ best endeavours to complete the Accounts and enable the Comptroller and Auditor General to lay the Accounts before Parliament within 9 months of the year end in respect of the accounts for the year ended on 28 February 2004 and thereafter within 3 months of the year-end.
- 10. This Direction shall be reproduced as an annex to the accounts.
- 11. This Direction replaces the Direction dated March 2007.

Ian Bulmer

Deputy Director, Government Financial Reporting HM Treasury 2 July 2018

General Information

Accounting/Distribution Dates

The accounting and distribution dates for the Ministry of Justice Equity Index Tracker Fund in 2022 are:

Accounting Dates
28 February
10 April
31 August
12 October

Buying & Selling Units

Unit Prices

Unit prices may be found in the Financial Times under the MoJ Common Investment Funds heading, or are available from the MoJ.

The Fund is valued daily at noon and the prices for buying and selling units rise and fall depending on the market value of the Fund's investments at that time. If the prices are published as 'ex-dividend', a purchaser will not be entitled to the next income payment.

Management charge

There is no initial charge on the issue of units and no redemption charge is applied. The annual management charge is based on fund size as follows:

0.16% for the first £100 million 0.14% £100 million and above

The management charge is paid in arrears out of the total assets of the Fund at the end of each month and is exclusive of VAT.

Individual accounts are unaffected by the management charge deduction.

The actual Management Charge suffered during the year was 0.16% plus VAT.

Buying and Selling Securities

The Investment Manager buys and sells units in the underlying unit trusts on behalf of the MoJ Equity Index Tracker Fund using forward prices at the date of investment. The prices of the underlying trusts are published on the internet at: www.legalandgeneral.com/investments/fund-information/daily-fund-prices/fund-prices immediately after they become available.

The Manager of the underlying trusts effects transactions based on Best Execution at all times and may, subject to Investment Restrictions, deal on any such markets or exchanges and with or through such brokers or counterparties as it thinks fit. The Manager will act with good faith and due diligence in its choice and use of brokers and counterparties.

Authorised Fund Manager

Legal & General (Unit Trust Managers) Limited Registered in England and Wales No. 01009418

Registered office: One Coleman Street, London EC2R 5AA

Telephone: 0370 050 3350

Authorised and regulated by the Financial Conduct Authority

Call charges will vary. We may record and monitor calls.

Directors of the Manager

M. M. Ammon (appointed on 6 October 2021)
A. D. Clare*
E. Cowhey*
A. J. C. Craven
S. Hynes (resigned on 30 April 2021)
M. Jordy* (appointed on 24 March 2021)
L. W. Toms
A. R. Toutounchi (resigned on 1 November 2021)

Secretary

J. McCarthy

Overall Governance

Ministry of Justice

Auditor

Comptroller and Auditor General National Audit Office 157-197 Buckingham Palace Road Victoria London SW1W 9SP

Fund Investors

The Accountant General 102 Petty France London SW1H 9AJ Telephone: 0845 223 8500

Official Solicitor and Public Trustee Victory House 30 - 34 Kingsway London WC2B 6EX Telephone: 0203 681 2759

^{*}Non-executive Director

Office of the Public Guardian 102 Petty France London SW1H 9AJ Telephone: 0203 334 6598

Prepared and Issued by:

Legal & General (Unit Trust Managers) Limited
One Coleman Street
London EC2R 5AA
Authorised and regulated by the Financial Conduct Authority

